University of Missouri, St. Louis

Dissertations

UMSL Graduate Works

4-1-2021

Instantaneous Frequency Estimation and Signal Separation Using Fractional Continuous Wavelet Transform

Abdelbaset R. Zeyani University of Missouri-St. Louis, alzayani1978@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation

Part of the Applied Mathematics Commons

Recommended Citation

Zeyani, Abdelbaset R., "Instantaneous Frequency Estimation and Signal Separation Using Fractional Continuous Wavelet Transform" (2021). *Dissertations*. 1051. https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation/1051

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the UMSL Graduate Works at IRL @ UMSL. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of IRL @ UMSL. For more information, please contact marvinh@umsl.edu.

Instantaneous Frequency Estimation and Signal Separation Using Fractional Continuous Wavelet Transform

Abdelbaset Ramadan M. Zeyani

M.Sc. Applied Mathematics, Missouri University Of Science And Technology, USA, 2015

M.Sc. Mathematics, Azzaytuna University, Libya, 2006

B.Sc. Mathematics, Almergeb University, Libya, 1999

A Dissertation Submitted to The Graduate School at the University of Missouri-St. Louis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematical and Computational Sciences with an emphasis in Mathematics

May 2021

Advisory Committee: Qingtang Jiang, Ph.D. (Chair) Wenjie He, Ph.D. Adrian Clingher, Ph.D. Haiyan Cai, Ph.D.

Abstract

In the signal processing field, time-frequency representations (TFR's) have intensively been improved to provide effective and powerful tools for reliable signal analysis. One of the most valuable and frequently used tools is Fourier transform (FT) which has been used to study the frequency content of stationary signals in the Fourier domain (FD). However, FT is not sufficient to study the frequency of non-stationary signals. For this particular type of signals to be best analyzed, some transforms such as the short time Fourier transform (STFT) and the continuous wavelet transform (CWT) have been introduced to provide us with a signal representation in the time-frequency plane. Another transform based on STFT and CWT; namely, the synchrosqueezing transform (SST), was introduced to improve the sharpness of the TFR's by assigning the coefficient value to a different point in the TF plane. Also, TFR's with satisfactory energy concentration and the corresponding SST's involving both time and frequency variables were introduced; namely, the instantaneous frequency-embedded STFT (CWT) (IFE-STFT/IFE-CWT), where a rough estimation of the IF of a targeted component was used to achieve an accurate IF estimation. Recently, the STFT, the CWT and the corresponding SST's with a time-varying window width are proposed and studied. These transforms have shown the confidence in the accuracy of both sharpening the TFR and separating the components of a multicomponent non-stationary signal, which then led to obtain a more accurate component retrieval formula at any local time. In order to improve the time-frequency resolutions, the concept of fractional Fourier transform (FrFT) was introduced as a potent tool to analyze time-varying signals; however, it fails in locating the frequency content in the fractional Fourier domain (FrFD). To this regard, the short time fractional FT (STFrFT) and the fractional CWT (FrCWT) were proposed to solve this issue by displaying the time and FrFD-frequency contents jointly in the time-FrFD-frequency plane. In this dissertation, we provide a component retrieval formula for a multicomponent signal from its FrCWT with integral involving only the scale variable and then introducing the corresponding SST (FrWSST). We also introduce the first and second order SST based on the IFE-CWT (IFE-WSST) and then propose time-FrFD-frequency representations with satisfactory energy concentration; namely, IFE-FrCWT and the corresponding SST (IFE-FrWSST). Lastly, we consider the FrCWT with a time-varying window width; namely, the adaptive FrCWT (AFr-CWT) and the corresponding SST (AFrWSST). We propose these TFR's in the FrFD for the purpose of not only improving the accuracy of the IF estimation and the energy concentration of these transforms, but also enhancing the separation conditions for the components of a multicomponent signal to be retrieved more accurately.

Keywords: Fractional wavelet transform, Instantaneous frequency-embedded fractional wavelet transform, Adaptive fractional wavelet transform, Synchrosqueezing transform

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	7
2	Pre	eliminaries	11
	2.1	Fourier transform	12
	2.2	Stationary and non-stationary signals	13
		2.2.1 Stationary signals	13
		2.2.2 Non-stationary signals	14
	2.3	Short-time Fourier transform	16
	2.4	Continuous wavelet transform	17
	2.5	Instantaneous frequency-embedded CWT	20
3	Syn	achrosqueezing Transform	22
	3.1	CWT-based synchrosqueezing transform	23
		3.1.1 First-Order WSST	25
		3.1.2 Second-Order WSST	26
	3.2	STFT-based synchrosqueezing transform	27
		3.2.1 First-Order FSST	28
		3.2.2 Second-Order FSST	30
4	Fra	ctional CWT-based Synchrosqueezing transform	31
	4.1	Fractional Fourier transform	32
	4.2	Fractional continuous wavelet transform	33
	4.3	FrCWT-based synchrosqueezing transform	36
		4.3.1 First-Order FrWSST	36
		4.3.2 Second-Order FrWSST	37
5	IFE	E-Fractional CWT-based SST	40
	5.1	IFE-CWT-based SST	41
		5.1.1 First-Order IFE-WSST	41
		5.1.2 Second-Order IFE-WSST	42
	5.2	Instantaneous frequency-embedded FrCWT	44
	5.3	IFE-FrCWT-based SST	47
		5.3.1 First-Order IFE-FrWSST	47
		5.3.2 Second-Order IFE-FrWSST	49

6	Ada	ptive FrCWT - Based SST 5	52
	6.1	Adaptive CWT	53
	6.2	Adaptive CWT-based SST	55
		6.2.1 First-Order AWSST	55
		6.2.2 Second-Order AWSST	57
	6.3	Adaptive FrCWT	59
	6.4	Adaptive FrCWT-based SST	51
		6.4.1 First-Order AFrWSST	51
		6.4.2 Second-Order AFrWSST	63
7	Con	clusion and Future Work	36

List of Figures

- 3.1 Top row: The signal x(t) and the ideal IFs of x₁(t) (blue) and x₂(t) (red); Bottom row: The STFT and the corresponding SST (FSST). 29
 4.1 Top row: The signal x(t) and the ideal IFs of x₁(t) (red) and x₂(t)

Abbreviations

FT: Fourier transform FrFT: Fractional Fourier transform IF: Instantaneous frequency IA: Instantaneous amplitude $PC(\mathbb{R})$: Set of piecewise - continuous functions IMT(F): Intrinsic mode type (function) AHM: Adaptive harmonic model LFM: Linear frequency modulation LFT: Localized Fourier transform FD: Fourier domain FrFD: Fractional Fourier domain TF: Time - frequency TFR: Time - frequency representation ITFR: Ideal time - frequency representation TFA: Time - frequency analysis STFT: Short time Fourier transform CWT: Continuous wavelet transform FrCWT: Fractional continuous wavelet transform IFE – CWT: Instantaneous frequency-embedded CWT RAM: Reassignment method SST: Synchrosqueezing transform FSST: STFT - based synchrosqueezing transform WSST: CWT - based synchrosqueezing transform IFE – WSST: IFE-CWT - based synchrosqueezing transform FrWSST: FrCWT - based synchrosqueezing transform IFE – FrCWT: Instantaneous frequency-embedded fractional CWT IFE – FrWSST: IFE-FrCWT - based synchrosqueezing transform ACWT: Adaptive continuous wavelet transform AWSST: ACWT - based synchrosqueezing transform AFrCWT: Adaptive fractional continuous wavelet transform AFrWSST: AFrCWT - based synchrosqueezing transform

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Time-frequency analysis has been seen as a significant and powerful tool in the field of signal processing and analysis. It is used to facilitate and understand the oscillatory features of signals whose their frequencies may or may not change with time.

By considering an integrable function x(t) on \mathbb{R} as a function in $PC(\mathbb{R})$, applying Fourier transform (FT) to x(t) aims to take it from the time domain \mathbb{R} to $\hat{x}(\xi)$ in the frequency domain \mathbb{R} . FT is used to study the frequency contents of time dependent signals, where the analog signal can be reconstructed back from the frequency content by using the inverse Fourier transform.

The purpose of localizing signals $x \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ before applying FT is apparent through the aim of using a suitable real-valued time-window function $u \in (L_1 \cap L_2)(\mathbb{R})$ in the short-time Fourier transform (STFT). This window function allows to move along the *t*-axis without partitioning it into disjoint intervals. Therefore with this window function, the STFT takes x(t) from the time domain \mathbb{R} to a quantity $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\xi)$ in the time-frequency domain \mathbb{R}^2 , where we can see that x can easily be reconstructed back from its localized Fourier transform as it will be seen later in Section 2.3.

For signals $x \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$ (or $\mathrm{PC}^*([a, b])$, $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$), the frequency contents are investigated in some desirable neighborhood of any t by adopting the Fourier basis functions $e^{i2\pi\xi t}$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. Instead of that, a general wavelet $\psi \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ is used to generate a whole family of wavelets through

$$\psi_{a,b}(t) = \frac{1}{a} \psi \Big(\frac{t-b}{a} \Big),$$

where the factor a > 0 is for adjusting the scale and the length of the wavelet and the parameter $b \in \mathbb{R}$ is for shifting the support interval of $\psi_{a,b}$ along the whole real axis. Thus, for a function $x \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the continuous wavelet transform (CWT) of x is defined as the inner product of x with the family wavelet $\{\psi_{a,b}\}$. It aims to analyze the time and frequency contents of x depending on the width of the window function $\psi_{a,b}(t)$. If $\psi \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies the admissibility condition; that is,

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{\xi} \, d\xi < \infty$$

then the reconstruction operations for x from the CWT are allowed.

For a real value $\xi_k > 0$ and $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$, a signal x(t) defined by

$$x(t) = a_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} x_k(t) = a_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k \cos(2\pi\xi_k t)$$

is a superposition of the sub-signals $x_k(t) = a_k \cos(2\pi\xi_k t)$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, where ξ_k are their constant frequencies. These frequencies are independent of the time variable t, so x(t) is classified as a stationary signal. However, signals with time dependent frequencies are classified to be non-stationary, and they are defined to be superpositions of the sub-signals $x_k(t) = A_k(t) \cos(2\pi\phi_k(t))$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, by

$$x(t) = A_0(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} x_k(t) = A_0(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k(t) \cos(2\pi\phi_k(t)),$$

where $A_k > 0$, $\phi_k \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\phi'_k > 0$ is the instantaneous frequency (IF) of $x_k(t)$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, and $A_0(t)$ is some polynomial. These types of signals seek for best analysis into the time-frequency plane since FT is ineffective to study their frequency contents. Therefore, a powerful time-frequency method based on the CWT; namely, synchrosqueezing transform (SST), was recently developed. The SST, also named the CWT-based synchrosqueezing transform (WSST) that was introduced by Daubechies and Maes in [24] with a further development by Daubechies, Lu and Wu in [23] (also see [25]) and comprehensively studied by Wu in his Ph.D. dissertation [64] considering both the CWT and the STFT to compute some reference frequency from the source signal for the SST operation to squeeze out the IF's of the components of multicomponent signal, is a special type of the reassignment method which is considered as a post processing technique to sharpen the TF representation of a signal by allocating the coefficient value to a different point in the TF plane, and with a further study by Thakur and Wu in [60]. Chapter 3 is prepared to present the SST in slightly more details. This idea was also modified with the STFT; namely, STFT-based synchrosqueezing transform (FSST) which was proposed by Oberlin, Meignen and Perrier in [49] using a different well-separated condition. Later on, They proposed and studied the second-order SST based on both STFT and CWT in [5], [47] and [50] (also see [3]).

Li and Liang in [40] introduced the generalized SST that aims to transform a signal $x(t) = A(t) \cos(2\pi \phi(t))$ or $x(t) = A(t) e^{i2\pi\phi(t)}$ to a signal with a constant frequency by

$$x(t) \longrightarrow x(t) e^{-i2\pi(\varphi(t)+\xi_0 t)},$$

where ξ_0 is the target frequency. However, this method has limitations that in practice estimating $\phi'(t)$ is needed since it is unknown, and only one variable is involved as conventional SST [40]. Later on, a transform that involves both variables of STFT was introduced by Wang, Chen, etc., in [62]; namely, the demodulation-transform based SST, and the idea was motivated to be with CWT by Jiang and Suter in [30].

A time-varying window width was recently adapted to the SST based on STFT

and discussed in [55], and later on in [35] the authors proposed and studied the adaptive CWT and the corresponding SST for IF estimation and multicomponent signal separation (also see [7, 13, 14, 34, 37, 43, 44]).

As known, Fourier analysis is one of the most powerful and frequently used tools in the field of signal processing, and to visualize the FT operator; a change in representation of the signal corresponding to a counter-clockwise rotation of the axis by an angle $\frac{\pi}{2}$ is required. The fractional Fourier transform (FrFT), which provides a generalization of the conventional FT, was introduced in mathematics literature by V. Namias in 1980 [46] where it can be considered as a rotation by an angle α in the time-frequency plane (also see [52, 54, 58, 67]). The FrFT is an effective tool to analyze the chirp signal. In some applications; however, it fails in locating the fractional Fourier domain (FrFD)-frequency contents. Many authors have proposed some works to adapt the FrFT to the STFT; namely, short time fractional Fourier transform (STFrFT), to solve this issue and improve the performance in concentration of the traditional time-frequency representations (TFR's) [1, 9]. The STFrFT is to display the time and FrFD-frequency information jointly in the time-FrFD-frequency plane and provide the signal with a 2-D support; namely, the short-time fractional Fourier domain (STFrFD)-support [59].

In 1997, Mendlovic, Zalevsky, etc., introduced the fractional continuous wavelet transform (FrCWT), which takes advantage of the localization existing in the FrFT to improve the reconstruction performance of the CWT [45]. Recently, the FrCWT has been developed to be more general and has elegant mathematical properties by Dai, Zheng, etc. It is to display the time and FrFD-frequency information jointly in the time-FrFD-frequency plane [22] (also see [56]).

This dissertation is organized as follows: Preliminaries in Chapter 2, where the fundamental concepts of the TFR's for analyzing stationary and non-stationary signals are provided. In Chapter 3, the concept of the SST is introduced to show the improvement in the sharpness of TFR's. In Chapter 4, we review the FrFT and the FrCWT, and we then establish a retrieved formula for a signal from the FrCWT with integral involving only one variable and define a new SST based on the FrCWT. In Chapter 5, we introduce the IFE-SST and the second-order IFE-SST based on CWT where the derivation of the phase transformation comes directly from the transform not like that was based on reassignment operators [50], [47]. Then we propose the IFE fractional continuous wavelet transform (IFE-FrCWT) and the corresponding SST (IFE-FrWSST). In Chapter 6, we briefly review the CWT with a time-varying parameter (ACWT) and the corresponding SST (AWSST) [35], and we then propose the FrCWT with a time-varying parameter (AFrCWT) and the corresponding SST (AFrWSST). Finally, we end this dissertation with a conclusion and future work in Chapter 7.

CHAPTER 2

Preliminaries

2.1 Fourier transform

Fourier transform (FT) is a mathematical transform which decomposes a function of time, x(t), into its constituent frequency. It may be used to study the frequency content of stationary functions, where this type of functions can be considered as functions in the set of *piecewise continuous* functions on \mathbb{R} , PC(\mathbb{R}). Thus applying FT to such functions with time-domain \mathbb{R} reveals its entire frequency content. In this brief section, FT concept and some useful properties will be introduced.

Definition 2.1.1. Let x(t) be a function in the space of all integrable functions on \mathbb{R} , denoted $L_1(\mathbb{R})$. Then the FT of x(t), $\hat{x}(\xi)$, is defined by

$$\widehat{x}(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) e^{-i2\pi\xi t} dt, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{1}$$
(2.1.1)

Notice that since $e^{-i2\pi\xi t} = \cos(2\pi\xi t) - i\sin(2\pi\xi t)$, the FT of x(t) reveals its frequency content in terms of the oscillation of *cosine* and *sine* functions as follows

$$\widehat{x}(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \cos(2\pi\xi t) dt - i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \sin(2\pi\xi t) dt,$$

where $\xi - Hz$ (i.e., ξ radian per second) is the frequency variable.

Furthermore, for $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ such that its FT $\hat{x}(\xi) \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$, x(t) can be retrieved back from its frequency content (or FT) by the *inverse* Fourier transform (IFT), which is defined by: (see [[12], section 7.2, pp. 329 - 332 and Theorem 4, p 332]).

$$x(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{x}(\xi) e^{i2\pi t\xi} d\xi.$$

The Parseval identity of FT, which can be used to write some transformations in the frequency-domain (FD), is defined by

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \,\overline{y(t)} \, dt = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{x}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{y}(\xi)} \, d\xi, \qquad (2.1.2)$$

for $x, y \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$.

Remark: For $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the FT of x'(t) is given to be

$$\widehat{x}'(\xi) = i\,\xi\,\widehat{x}(\xi),\tag{2.1.3}$$

while the FT of a function y(t) = t x(t) is defined by

$$\widehat{y}(\xi) = i \frac{d}{d\xi} \widehat{x}(\xi).$$
(2.1.4)

¹For given ξ , $\hat{x}(\xi)$ represents the part of x that oscillates at *frequency* ξ on the whole *time-domain*.

Now, from equations (2.1.3) and (2.1.4), one can obtain the FT of a function z(t) = t x'(t) as follows

$$\widehat{z}(\xi) = i \frac{d}{d\xi} \widehat{x'}(\xi) = i \frac{d}{d\xi} (i \xi \widehat{x}(\xi)) = -\widehat{x}(\xi) - \xi \widehat{x'}(\xi).$$
(2.1.5)

2.2 Stationary and non-stationary signals

As known by considering the Fourier series of an even function extensions, every finite-energy signal x(t) on $[0, \frac{L}{2}]$ has a Fourier cosine series representation, denoted S_x^c , defined as

$$x(t) = (S_x^c)(t) = \frac{a_0}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k \cos\left(\frac{2\pi kt}{L}\right),$$

which converges to x in $L_2([0, \frac{L}{2}])$, where cosine coefficients are given by

$$a_k = \frac{4}{L} \int_0^{\frac{L}{2}} x(t) \cos\left(\frac{2\pi kt}{L}\right) dt, \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Thus, the L-periodic signal x has an instantaneous frequency $\xi_k = \frac{k}{L} - Hz$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ where $a_k \neq 0$. Notice that the unit *Hertz* (Hz) used to measure the number of cycles of oscillation per second when t represents the time variable. Under the following subsections, we will focus on presenting signals with frequencies that may or may not change with time.

2.2.1 Stationary signals

Signals with frequencies that do not change with time are called stationary signals, which are best analyzed by using FS methods or FT. To study the frequency content of a stationary signal x(t), we first consider the standard signal model given by

$$x(t) = a_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k \cos(2\pi\xi_k t), \qquad (2.2.1.1)$$

for arbitrary frequency values $\xi_k > 0$ and $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N. Notice that this signal defined above in (2.2.1.1), which is a finite-energy signal with timedomain \mathbb{R} , has frequencies ξ_k for k = 1, 2, ..., N, that are independent of the time variable $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus by applying FT to (2.2.1.1), we have

$$\widehat{x}(\xi) = a_0 \,\delta(\xi) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k \big(\delta(\xi - \xi_k) + \delta(\xi + \xi_k) \big), \qquad (2.2.1.2)$$

where the frequencies can easily be determined. This stationary signal defined in (2.2.1.1) is a special case of the general stationary signal model

$$x(t) = a_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k \cos 2\pi (\xi_k t + e_k), \qquad (2.2.1.3)$$

with $e_k = 0$. In this general model, *sine* functions and negative amplitudes for stationary signals are allowed to be used, and of course every x defined in (2.2.1.3) and the corresponding x defined in (2.2.1.1) have the same frequency since the FT of the general model x is given by

$$\widehat{x}(\xi) = a_0 \,\delta(\xi) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^N a_k \, e^{\frac{i2\pi\xi e_k}{\xi_k}} \left(\delta(\xi - \xi_k) + \delta(\xi + \xi_k)\right).$$

From this overview, we see that the FT is useful to discover the frequency contents of stationary signals whose frequencies do not change with time. However, when specific frequency values are assumed, the Fourier transform does not display the time instants. Because of this, it becomes hard to analyze their frequency contents.

2.2.2 Non-stationary signals

In this subsection, we will focus on signals that their frequencies change with time. These types of signals are called non-stationary signals, and they can be defined as follows

$$x(t) = T(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k(t) \cos(2\pi\phi_k(t)), \qquad (2.2.2.1)$$

where $A_k(t) > 0$, $\phi_k(t) \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\phi'_k(t) > 0$, and T(t) is some polynomial that may possibly be embedded with noise. In other words, x(t) is a superposition of signal components; that is,

$$x_k(t) = A_k(t) \cos(2\pi\phi_k(t)), \quad k = 1, 2, ..., N.$$
 (2.2.2.2)

In this regard, the question is to know when is x said to be a superposition? To answer this question, we will first have the following definition

Definition 2.2.1. Let $x : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function, and $x \in L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Then x is said to be *intrinsic* mode type (IMT) with accuracy $\epsilon > 0$ if $x(t) = A(t) e^{i2\pi\phi(t)}$ with some properties that A(t) and $\phi(t)$ satisfy:

- $A(t) \in (C^1 \cap L_\infty)(\mathbb{R}), \quad \phi(t) \in C^2(\mathbb{R});$
- $\inf_t \phi'(t) > 0$, $\sup_t \phi'(t) < \infty$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$;
- $\bullet \quad |A'(t)| \leq \epsilon |\phi'(t)|, \quad |\phi''(t)| \leq \epsilon |\phi'(t)| \quad \forall \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$

After that, one can define a superposition function as follows:

Definition 2.2.2. A function $x : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ is said to be a *superposition* of wellseparated intrinsic mode components with separation 0 < d < 1 and up to accuracy $\epsilon > 0$, if there exists a finite N, such that

$$x(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} x_k(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k(t) e^{i2\pi\phi_k(t)},$$
(2.2.2.3)

where all $x_k(t)$ are IMT functions, and their phase functions $\phi_k(t)$ satisfy, for some 0 < d < 1, that

$$\phi'_k(t) > \phi'_{k-1}$$
 and $|\phi'_k(t) - \phi'_{k-1}| \ge d(\phi'_k(t) + \phi'_{k-1}) \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}.$ (2.2.2.4)

From equation (2.2.2.2), the functions $A_k(t)$ and $\phi_k(t)$ are called *amplitude* and *phase* functions that generalizing the constants a_k and the linear functions $\xi_k t$ in (2.2.1.1) respectively. The derivative function of $\phi_k(t)$, $\phi'_k(t)$, for k = 1, 2, ..., N, is the extension of the frequency ξ_k in (2.2.1.1), where each $\phi'_k(t)$ is called the instantaneous frequency of $x_k(t)$. The trend T(t) is a generalization of the constant factor a_0 in the stationary signal model (2.2.1.1). Notice that x(t), defined in (2.2.2.1), is said to be non-linear if the amplitude functions $A_k(t)$ are allowed to be non-constants and non – stationary if the phase functions $\phi_k(t)$ are non-linear functions. Thus, such signal model is called the *adaptive harmonic* model (AHM).

For a signal x(t) defined in (2.2.2.1), if x(t) is a blind source signal, it is definitely not feasible to determine its specific signal components $x_k(t)$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, by any decomposition scheme, without knowing prior knowledge of these components and/or specifying appropriate restrictions on the AHM. Those restrictions, in the signal processing literature, are described as follows:

$$\begin{cases}
A_{k} \in (C^{1} \cap L_{\infty})(\mathbb{R}), \ \phi_{k} \in C^{2}(\mathbb{R}); \\
\inf_{t} A_{k}(t) > c_{1}, \ \sup_{t} A_{k}(t) < c_{2}; \\
\inf_{t} \phi_{k}'(t) > c_{1}, \ \sup_{t} \phi_{k}'(t) < c_{2}; \\
|A_{k}'(t)| \le \epsilon \phi_{k}'(t), \ |\phi_{k}''(t)| \le \epsilon \phi_{k}'(t),
\end{cases}$$
(2.2.2.5)

for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, where $0 < \epsilon << 1$ and $\epsilon << c_1 < c_2 < \infty$. In this model, we also assume that all components are well-separated, which means their respective phase functions $\phi_k(t)$ satisfy (2.2.2.4). In this subsection and later sections, we will denote the class of functions x(t) satisfying the AHM conditions (2.2.2.4) and (2.2.2.5) by $\mathbf{A}_{\epsilon,d}^{c_1,c_2}$.

Notice that the representation of a signal component $x_k(t)$ defined in (2.2.2.2) is not unique in general. That means there exist smooth functions $\alpha(t)$ and $\beta(t)$ such that $\cos(t) = (1 + \alpha(t)) \cos(t + \beta(t))$. Thus, in the case of defining the signal x(t), we have

$$x(t) = A(t) \cos(2\pi\phi(t)) = (A(t) + \alpha(t)) \cos(2\pi(\phi(t) + \beta(t))).$$

If this x(t) satisfies the conditions in (2.2.2.5), then one can show for some constant C depending only on c_1 and c_2 that $|\alpha(t)| \leq C \epsilon$ and $|\beta'(t)| \leq C \epsilon$ [23]. In other words, when ϵ is small enough, we see that the definition of the instantaneous frequency (IF) and the instantaneous amplitude (IA) are unique up to a negligible error because of their rigorous definitions [16].

2.3 Short-time Fourier transform

Let x(t) be a signal that truncated by some characteristic function $\chi_{(a,b)}(t)$, then computing $(x\chi_{(a,b)})(\xi)$ is more simple than computing $\hat{x}(\xi)$ which needs all x(t)values on the entire real axis. Instead of using a characteristic function $\chi_{(a,b)}(t)$, we can consider a *real-valued time-window* function u(t) that is allowed to move (continuously) along the *t*-axis without having any partitions of the *t*-axis into disjoint intervals. This is the main idea of the so-called short-time Fourier transform (STFT), where this window function u(t) in this transform is used to localize the signal x(t) before applying FT to it. Because of this it will also be called the *localized* Fourier transform (LFT).

Definition 2.3.1. Let $u \in (L_1 \cap L_2)(\mathbb{R})$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then for any $x \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the short-time Fourier transform (STFT) of x, denoted $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)$, at the time-frequency (or *space*-frequency) point $(t,\eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ is defined by

$$\mathbb{V}_{x}(t,\eta) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(\tau) \, u(\tau-t) \, e^{-i2\pi\eta(\tau-t)} \, d\tau.$$
 (2.3.1)

As known, the FT takes a function x(t) from the time domain \mathbb{R} to $\hat{x}(\xi)$ in the frequency domain \mathbb{R} , but the STFT, with the window function u, will take x(t) from the time domain \mathbb{R} to the time-frequency domain \mathbb{R}^2 . With $u \in (L_1 \cap L_2)(\mathbb{R})$ and $\hat{u} \in (L_1 \cap L_2)(\mathbb{R})$ such that $u(0) \neq 0$, x(t) can be retrieved back from the STFT, $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)$, called the *inverse* short-time Fourier transform, which is defined by

$$x(t) = \frac{1}{||u(0)||_2^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta) \,\overline{u(\tau-t)} \, e^{-i2\pi\eta(\tau-t)} d\tau d\eta, \qquad (2.3.2)$$

where $x \in (L_1 \cap L_2)(\mathbb{R})$ with $\hat{x} \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$.

By using Parseval identity of FT, the STFT can be written as follows

$$\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{x}(\xi) \,\widehat{u}(\eta-\xi) \,e^{i2\pi t\xi} \,d\xi, \qquad (2.3.3)$$

and then one may verify that x(t) can be retrieved back from the STFT with integral involving only the frequency variable η as follows

$$x(t) = \frac{1}{u(0)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta) \, d\eta.$$
 (2.3.4)

Note that for a real-valued signal x(t) and a real window function u(t) where $\widehat{x}(-\eta) = \overline{\widehat{x}(\eta)}$ and $\widehat{u}(-\eta) = \overline{\widehat{u}(\eta)}$, equation (2.3.4) becomes

$$x(t) = \frac{2}{u(0)} \operatorname{Re}\left\{\int_0^\infty \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta) \, d\eta\right\}.$$
(2.3.5)

2.4 Continuous wavelet transform

In the previous section, a suitable window function is used to introduce the *localized* Fourier transform (LFT), where the Fourier basis functions $e^{i2\pi\xi t}$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ are adopted to investigate the frequency contents of functions x(t), for $x \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$ (or $x \in \mathrm{PC}^*([a, b])$), in some desirable neighborhood of any t. Instead of adapting Fourier basis functions, we will consider a general function $\psi \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ with

P.V.
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi(t) dt = \lim_{A \to \infty} \int_{-A}^{A} \psi(t) dt = 0,$$
 (2.4.1)

and

$$\psi(t) \to 0 \ as \ t \to \pm \infty, \tag{2.4.2}$$

where P.V. denotes the *Cauchy* principal value. Then ψ is called a *wavelet*. For any wavelet ψ , one can generate a whole family of wavelets, small waves, through

$$\psi_{a,b}(t) = \frac{1}{a} \psi\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right),\tag{2.4.3}$$

where a > 0 and $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Notice that using the factor a is to adjust the scale and length of the wavelet, and the translation operator with the parameter $b \in \mathbb{R}$, $\psi(t-b)$, is used to allow shifting the support interval of $\psi_{a,b}$ along the entire real axis (i.e., by changing the values of b). Also, the normalization by $\frac{1}{a}$ multiplication used in (2.3.4) is to present $L_1 - norm$ on \mathbb{R} such that $\|\psi_{a,b}\|_1 = \|\psi\|_1$ for all a > 0 and $b \in \mathbb{R}$. The two-parameter family, $\{\psi_{a,b}\}$, of functions $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ is called the family of wavelets that generated by a signal wavelet function $\psi \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ and used as the integration kernel. From (2.4.1), we see that the graph of ψ oscillates (i.e., ψ has a wavy shape); and (2.4.2) tells that this wave dies down as $t \to \pm \infty$.

The graphs of $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ may be small or large waves, and that depends on how small or large the values of the factor a > 0 are. In particular, when a tends to 0, we observe that $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ zooms in to a smaller region near t = b, which is the time location.

Definition 2.4.1. For a function $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the continuous wavelet transform (CWT), denoted $W_x^{\psi}(a, b)$, of x(t) at the *time-scale* point (a, b) is defined as the inner product of x(t) with the family of wavelets $\psi_{a,b}$ by

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b) = \langle x(t), \psi_{a,b}(t) \rangle = \frac{1}{a} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \overline{\psi(\frac{t-b}{a})} dt.$$
(2.4.4)

Notice that the CWT is a time-frequency method that can be used to analyze the time and frequency contents of a function $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, or it is for analyzing the oscillation behavior of x(t). To be more precise on the specifications of a window function, we indeed want the two terminologies of *width* and *center* of the window function. Let u(t) and $\hat{u}(\xi)$ have a nice localization, having small window widths. Then, one can define the *time* window and the *frequency* window respectively as

$$[t^* - \Delta_u, t^* + \Delta_u]$$
 and $[\xi^* - \Delta_{\widehat{u}}, \xi^* + \Delta_{\widehat{u}}],$

where t^* and ξ^* are called, as they will be defined in the next definition, the centers of u(t) and $\hat{u}(\xi)$ respectively.

Definition 2.4.2. (Time-frequency window width)

Assume that $u \in (L_1 \cap L_2)(\mathbb{R})$ be a non-trivial window function such that $t u(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Then the center of the localization window function u(t) is defined by

$$t^* = \frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}} t |u(t)|^2 dt}{\int_{\mathbb{R}} |u(t)|^2 dt},$$
(2.4.5)

and the radius of the window function u(t) is defined by

$$\Delta_u = \left(\frac{\int_{\mathbb{R}} (t - t^*)^2 |u(t)|^2 dt}{\int_{\mathbb{R}} |u(t)|^2 dt}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(2.4.6)

Thus, the window width of u(t) is defined to be $2\Delta_u$. A similar definition is for both the center ξ^* and the radius $\Delta_{\hat{u}}$ of $\hat{u}(\xi)$. One can easily use *Hölder* inequality to show that if $t u(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ for $u(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, then $t u^2(t) \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$. That is,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |t \, u^2(t)| \, dx \le \|t u\|_2 \|u\|_2.$$

Therefore, the center t^* is well-defined. Now, if $\xi \,\widehat{u}(\xi) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, then the time-frequency localization window is defined by

$$[t^* - \Delta_u, t^* + \Delta_u] \times [\xi^* - \Delta_{\widehat{u}}, \xi^* + \Delta_{\widehat{u}}].$$

In this regard, the wavelet $\psi_{a,b}(t)$, defined in (2.4.3), is called a window function that used to localize a function x(t) in order to test its time and frequency contents. This localization depends on the width of the window function which can then be calculated after computing the center and radius of $\psi_{a,b}(x)$ using (2.4.5) and (2.4.6), as follows:

$$t^*_{\psi_{a,b}} = a t^*_{\psi} + b \tag{2.4.7}$$

while

$$\Delta_{\psi_{b,a}} = a \Delta_{\psi}. \tag{2.4.8}$$

Thus, the width of the window function $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ is $2a\Delta_{\psi}$, and the time-frequency window of $\psi_{a,b}$ is given by

$$\left[b + at^* - a\Delta_{\psi}, b + at^* + a\Delta_{\psi}\right] \times \left[\frac{\xi^*}{a} - \frac{1}{a}\Delta_{\widehat{\psi}}, \frac{\xi^*}{a} + \frac{1}{a}\Delta_{\widehat{\psi}}\right].$$

The formula in (2.1.1) is the FT of a function $x(t) \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$, so we can consider $\xi^*_{\widehat{\psi}_{a,b}}$ and $\Delta_{\widehat{\psi}_{b,a}}$ to describe the center and radius of the window function $\widehat{\psi}_{a,b}$ in the frequency domain. Thus, we first see that the FT of $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ is $\widehat{\psi}_{a,b}(\xi) = e^{-i2\pi\xi b} \widehat{\psi}(a\xi)$, and then from equations (2.4.3), (2.4.5) and (2.4.6), we have

$$\xi^*_{\hat{\psi}_{a,b}} = \frac{1}{a} \,\xi^*_{\hat{\psi}},\tag{2.4.9}$$

and

$$\Delta_{\widehat{\psi}_{a,b}} = \frac{1}{a} \Delta_{\widehat{\psi}}.$$
(2.4.10)

From equations (2.4.9) and (2.4.10), we notice that the localization window $\psi_{a,b}$ in the CWT has a nice feature which is the window width is not fixed, varying with the scaling variable a. Hence, the CWT of x(t) zooms in, as the timewindow width, $\Delta_{\psi_{a,b}} = a\Delta_{\psi}$, narrows when the value of a is smaller, that means providing a higher resolution in the time domain where the frequency-window width, $\Delta_{\widehat{\psi}_{a,b}} = \frac{1}{a} \Delta_{\widehat{\psi}}$, widens. However, when the value of a is larger, the CWT zooms out as the time-window width, $\Delta_{\psi_{a,b}} = a\Delta_{\psi}$, widens, while the frequencywindow width, $\Delta_{\widehat{\psi}_{a,b}} = \frac{1}{a} \Delta_{\widehat{\psi}}$, narrows, which means facilitating the analysis of high-frequency contents.

Since the window function $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ slides along the real axis as the value of $b \in \mathbb{R}$ changes, this window function facilitates the analysis of x(t) for different time and frequency detail over the time axis.

Definition 2.4.3. Let $\psi \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ be a wavelet. If the FT of ψ , $\widehat{\psi}$, satisfies

$$c_{\psi} = \int_0^\infty \frac{\left|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\right|^2}{\xi} \, d\xi < \infty, \tag{2.4.11}$$

then ψ is called an admissible wavelet.

Thus it is clear that the signal x(t) can be retrieved back from the CWT by the *inverse* wavelet transform, if $c_{\psi} \neq 0$, as (see [[12], Theorem 3, p 389]).

$$x(t) = c_{\psi}^{-1} \int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \psi_{a,b}(t) \, db \, \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (2.4.12)$$

for any admissible wavelet $\psi \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ that satisfies (2.4.11), and for all $x \in (L_1 \cap L_\infty)(\mathbb{R})$, where $L_\infty(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the space of all bounded functions.

Note that the Parseval identity of FT can also be used to rewrite the CWT as follows: ∞

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{x}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}(a\xi)} \, e^{i2\pi b\xi} \, d\xi.$$
(2.4.13)

A function x(t) is said to be analytic if x(t) satisfies that $\hat{x}(\xi) = 0$ for $\xi < 0$. Then by considering analytic continuous wavelets, we assume that ψ satisfies

$$0 \neq c_{\psi} = \int_0^\infty \overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi)} \, \frac{d\xi}{\xi} < \infty. \tag{2.4.14}$$

Therefore, $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ can be retrieved back from the CWT as

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1} \int_0^\infty W_x^{\psi}(a,b) \frac{da}{a}$$
(2.4.15)

in the case that x(t) is an analytic signal and c_{ψ} is as defined in (2.4.14). Furthermore, for a real-valued signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, equation (2.4.15) becomes

$$x(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\psi}^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{x}^{\psi}(a, b) \frac{da}{a}\right).$$
(2.4.16)

2.5 Instantaneous frequency-embedded CWT

A time-frequency representation with satisfactory energy concentration was first introduced by Wang, Chen, etc., in [62] with STFT involving both time and frequency variables, and then motivated by Jiang and Suter in [30] with CWT. Our focus in more details here will be on the motivated one with CWT, namely; the instantaneous frequency-embedded CWT (IFE-CWT), where a differentiable function, $\varphi(t)$, is used with $\varphi'(t) > 0$. Now by assuming that $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, we consider the generalized signal form given by

$$x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(t) = x(t) \ e^{-i2\pi(\varphi(t) - \varphi(b) - \varphi'(b)(t-b) - \xi_0 t)}, \tag{2.5.1}$$

where $\xi_0 > 0$, and we come up with the following definition.

Definition 2.5.1. Suppose $\varphi(t)$ is a differentiable function with $\varphi'(t) > 0$. The IFE-CWT, denoted $W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)$, of $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\varphi(t)$ and a continuous wavelet ψ is defined by

$$W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = \langle x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(t), \psi_{a,b}(t) \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(t) \ \overline{\psi_{a,b}(t)} \, dt.$$
(2.5.2)

In fact, the above definition of the IFE-CWT can be extended to slowly growing functions. Now by using Parseval identity of FT, the IFE-CWT will be written as follows

$$W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = e^{i2\pi\varphi(b)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\widetilde{x}}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}(a\xi + a\varphi'(b))} \, e^{i2\pi\xi b} \, d\xi, \qquad (2.5.3)$$

where

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = x(t) e^{-i2\pi(\varphi(t) - \xi_0 t)}.$$

Consequently, a function $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ can be retrieved back from the IFE-CWT as

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1} e^{-i2\pi\xi_0 b} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \frac{da}{|a|}.$$
 (2.5.4)

However, if the scale variable a is restricted to a > 0, x(t) can be retrieved back from the IFE-CWT as follows

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1} e^{-i2\pi\xi_0 b} \int_0^\infty W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (2.5.5)$$

where c_{ψ} is defined by (2.4.14).

CHAPTER 3

Synchrosqueezing Transform

At the beginning of this chapter, we will briefly present an overview of timefrequency analysis method; namely, the *reassignment* (RAM). Before that, we know that the FT of a signal x(t) in the time domain, $\hat{x}(\xi)$, provides us with a frequency domain representation. Thus the FT is not sufficient to study the frequency content of non-stationary signals defined in (2.2.2.1) because their IF's $\phi'_k(t)$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, change with time. To best analyze these types of signals, we need methods that provide us with a signal representation in the time-frequency plane.

In the late 1970's, Kodera, Gendrin and De Villedary introduced the reassignment method [32, 33]. Then it was generalized by Auger and Flandrin [2]. The RAM is a general way to sharpen the time-frequency representation (TFR) towards its ideal time-frequency representation (ITFR). That is by creating a modified version of a time-frequency representation; for instance, STFT and CWT, by moving its time-frequency values away from where they are computed. This is in order to produce a better localization of the signal components. substantially, the time-frequency values (t, ξ) are reassigned to the center of gravity or the local centroid $(\tilde{t}, \tilde{\xi})$ of the energy contributions of the TFR [10, 12]. This improves classic time-frequency representations by providing an obvious graphical display of the oscillatory features of a signal, facilitating signals interpretation. This method is very effective, but it is not straightforward to reconstruct the signal components.

Recently, time-frequency analysis methods have seen significant developments including the Fourier-based synchrosqueezing transform (FSST) and the waveletbased synchrosqueezing transform (WSST), where the synchrosqueezing transform (SST); the first signal resolution approach for non-stationary signals, was originally introduced by Daubechies and Maes in [24] as a special type of reassignment methods and comprehensively studied by Wu in his Ph.D. dissertation [64] considering both the CWT and the STFT with a further and full development of SST based on STFT by Thakur and Wu in [60]. Later on, many other studies related to the SST have been done to improve the sharpness of TFR's by assigning the coefficient value to different point in the TF plane, such as in [5], [47], [49], [50].

3.1 CWT-based synchrosqueezing transform

In Section 2.4, the CWT of a signal x(t), $W_x^{\psi}(b,a)$, was introduced and defined as the inner product of x(t) with the mother wavelet $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ in (2.4.3), which we again display its formula here

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b) = \langle x(t), \psi_{a,b}(t) \rangle = \frac{1}{a} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \,\overline{\psi(\frac{t-b}{a})} \, dt. \tag{3.1.1}$$

The representation of the positive quantity $|W_x^{\psi}(a,b)|^2$ in the TF plane is called the *scalogram* of x(t). By using equations (2.2.2.3) and (3.2.2), the corresponding approximation for the CWT of x(t) is defined as follows:

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b) \approx W_{\tilde{x}_t}^{\psi}(a,b) = \sum_{k=1}^N x_k(t) \,\overline{\hat{\psi}(a\phi'_k(t))}.$$
 (3.1.2)

Notice that the representation of x in the TF plane is concentrated around ridges corresponding to their instantaneous frequencies defined by $a = \xi_{\psi}/\phi'_k(t)$, where $\xi_{\psi} = \arg \max_{\xi} |\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|$ is the center frequency of the wavelet. Also, if $\phi'_k(t)$, for $k \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$, are separated enough compared to the support of $\widehat{\psi}$, we see each mode occupies a distinct domain of the TF plane, allowing their detection, separation and reconstruction. This requires the frequency separation condition described as:

• When $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\psi} \subset [1 - \Delta, 1 + \Delta]$, a multicomponent signal x is separated if the instantaneous frequencies satisfy, for each $k \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$, that

$$\frac{\phi'_{k+1}(t) - \phi'_k(t)}{\phi'_{k+1}(t) + \phi'_k(t)} > \Delta, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}$$

Remark: The scalogram of a multicomponent signal x(t) defined in (2.2.2.3) is given to be of the form

$$|W_x^{\psi}(a,b)|^2 = \sum_{k=1}^N |W_{x_k}^{\psi}(a,b)|^2$$

when the CWT's of signal components, $W_{x_k}^{\psi}(a, b)$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, do not overlap in the TF plane. i.e., for all (a, b)

$$W_{x_k}^{\psi}(a,b) W_{x_l}^{*\psi}(a,b) = 0, \quad k \neq l.$$

However, in general, the scalogram of x(t) is given by

$$|W_x^{\psi}(a,b)|^2 = \sum_{k=1}^N |W_{x_k}^{\psi}(a,b)|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^N \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l\neq k}}^N W_{x_k}^{\psi}(a,b) W_{x_l}^{*\psi}(a,b).$$

Observe that the second term on the right hand-side of this equation represents the cross-terms resulting from the interaction between two different signal components. These terms are usually undesirable components because of non-linear structure of the scalogram. It is clear here to see that the cross-terms appear only at the TF points where the auto-terms overlap; however, they might appear even if the components do not overlap in any other quadratic TF representations [57].

3.1.1 First-Order WSST

It is an approach in the literature to the non-stationary signal analysis that introduced by I. Daubechies and others in [23]. This approach is first to estimate the IF's of signal components before reconstructing the sub-signals, where the signal satisfies the properties of the AHM in (2.2.2.4) and (2.2.2.5) (i.e., when the signal $x \in \mathbf{A}_{\epsilon,d}^{c_1,c_2}$). It is a special case of reallocation methods that aims to sharpen TFR's which means to reassign the scale variable *a* to the frequency variable. It mainly works through squeezing the CWT defined in (2.4.4), where the analysis wavelet ψ satisfies the admissibility condition in the sense that its FT vanishes on the negative frequency axis, i.e., $\hat{\psi}(\xi) = 0$ for $\xi < 0$. To extract the IF, we consider the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ as it was used in Section 3.2. Then the CWT of x(t), $W_x^{\psi}(a, b)$, is given by

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b) = e^{i2\pi bc} \ \overline{\widehat{\psi}(ac)}.$$
(3.1.1.1)

By taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of this above equation (3.1.1.1) with respect to b, the exact IF, c, of x(t) can be obtained by

$$c = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b)}.$$

Based on this, it can be concluded that for a general signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$, the first-order phase transformation, which considered to be the best candidate to estimate the IF, is defined by

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a,b) = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b)}.$$
(3.1.1.2)

The synchrosqueezing transform based on the CWT (WSST) is to reallocate the values $W_x^{\psi}(a, b)$ according to the map $(a, b) \longrightarrow (\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b), b)$. In other words, it is to reallocate the scale variable a by transforming the CWT of x, $W_x^{\psi}(a, b)$, to a quantity on the time-frequency plane:

$$S_x^{\text{CWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in R_+ : W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{\text{1st}}(a, b) - \xi) \frac{da}{a}, \tag{3.1.1.3}$$

where ξ is the frequency variable. Notice that for stability purpose, if x has been contaminated by noise, the determination of those pairs (a, b) on which $W_x^{\psi}(a, b) =$ 0 is rather unstable. Because of this we consider a threshold Γ for $|W_x^{\psi}(a, b)|$, below which $\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b)$ is not defined, this is just by replacing $\{a : W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}$ defined in (3.1.1.3) by a smaller region $\{a : |W_x^{\psi}(a, b)| \geq \Gamma\}$. Then (3.1.1.3) becomes

$$S_x^{\text{CWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in R_+ : |W_x^{\psi}(a,b)| \ge \Gamma\}} W_x^{\psi}(a,b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{\text{1st}}(a,b) - \xi) \frac{da}{a}.$$
(3.1.1.4)

Thus, considering $c_{\psi} \neq 0$ to be the constant defined in (2.4.14), a mono-component analytic signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, by (2.4.15), can be retrieved back from the WSST as:

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{\text{CWT}}(\xi, b) \, d\xi.$$
(3.1.1.5)

Notice that when x(t) is a real-valued signal, then, by (2.4.16),

$$x(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\psi}^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{^{\mathrm{CWT}}}(\xi, b) d\xi\right).$$
(3.1.1.6)

However, for a multicomponent signal x(t) in (2.2.2.3), when $A_k(t)$ and $\phi_k(t)$ satisfy certain conditions as in definition 2.2.1, each component $x_k(t)$ can be retrieved back from the WSST, i.e., for some $\Gamma > 0$

$$x_k(t) \approx \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\psi}^{-1} \int_{|\xi - \phi'_k(b)| < \Gamma} S_x^{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{CWT}}(\xi, b) d\xi\right).$$
 (3.1.1.7)

3.1.2 Second-Order WSST

The second-order SST means to adapt the SST to superpositions of perturbed linear chirps. It aims to define a new approximation of the phase transformation that is associated with the second order partial derivatives of the CWT of a given signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, which means obtaining an invertible sharpened TF representation of the same quality as that obtained by the RAM. Similar to the second-order FSST derivation, let x(t) be a linear chirp defined in (3.2.2.1), and without using the reassignment operators, the second-order phase transformation, denoted $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a, b)$, can be defined as:

where $\mathcal{T}\psi := t\psi(t)$ and $J_w(a,b) = \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b)} \right)$. Now for a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the second-order WSST of x(t) is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{CWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in R_+ : W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\psi}(a, b) \,\,\delta(\Omega_x^{\text{2nd}}(a, b) - \xi) \,\frac{da}{a}$$

3.2 STFT-based synchrosqueezing transform

In Chapter 2, we briefly presented the Fourier transform of a signal x(t), $\hat{x}(\xi)$, defined in (2.1.1). Then, in Section 2.3, the STFT of x(t) can locally be obtained by sliding the window function u as defined in (2.3.1), which we again display its formula here

$$\mathbb{V}_{x}(t,\eta) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(\tau) \, u(\tau-t) \, e^{-i2\pi\eta(\tau-t)} \, d\tau.$$
 (3.2.1)

The representation of the positive quantity $|\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)|^2$ in the TF plane is called the *spectrogram* of x. Note that if the window function u(t) is in the **Schwartz class** - \mathbb{S} , the set of all functions $x \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with rapidly decreasing derivatives, then the STFT, $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)$, of a slowly growing function x(t) with u(t) is well defined. A signal x(t) is said to be rapidly decreasing if for any integer $N \geq 0$, there exists a constant C_N such that $|t|^N |x(t)| \leq C_N$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. It is clear that \mathbb{S} is closed under differentiation and multiplication by polynomials. Also, since $x \in \mathbb{S}$ are bounded and decay faster than any polynomial as $|t| \to \infty$, they are integrable, which makes sense to take their Fourier transform. When x(t) has the form defined in (2.2.2.3) with some assumed slow variations on $A_k(t)$ and $\phi'_k(t)$, x(t) can then be written in the following approximated form

$$x(\tau) \approx \widetilde{x}_t(\tau) = \sum_{k=1}^N A_k(t) e^{i2\pi \left(\phi_k(t) + \phi'_k(t)(\tau-t)\right)}, \qquad (3.2.2)$$

for τ close to a fixed time t. Therefore, the corresponding approximation for the STFT of x(t) is defined as follows

$$\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta) \approx \mathbb{V}_{\widetilde{x}_t}(t,\eta) = \sum_{k=1}^N x_k(t) \,\widehat{u}(\eta - \phi'_k(t)). \tag{3.2.3}$$

Notice that the representation of x(t) in the TF plane is concentrated around ridges corresponding to their instantaneous frequencies defined by $\eta = \phi'_k(t)$. Also, if $\phi'_k(t)$ for $k \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$, are separated enough compared to the support of \hat{u} , we see each mode occupies a distinct domain of the TF plane, allowing their detection, separation and reconstruction. This requires the frequency separation condition described as

• When $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{u} \subset [-\Delta, \Delta]$, a multicomponent signal x is separated if the instantaneous frequencies satisfy, for each $k \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$, that

$$\phi_{k+1}'(t) - \phi_k'(t) > 2\Delta, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Remark: For a multicomponent signal x(t) defined in (2.2.2.3), the spectrogram of x(t) is given to be in the form

$$\left|\mathbb{V}_{x}(t,\eta)\right|^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left|\mathbb{V}_{x_{k}}(t,\eta)\right|^{2},$$

when the STFT's of signal components, $\mathbb{V}_{x_k}(t,\eta)$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N, do not overlap in the TF plane. i.e., for all (t,η)

$$\mathbb{V}_{x_k}(t,\eta)\,\mathbb{V}^*_{x_l}(t,\eta) = 0, \quad k \neq l.$$

However, in general, the spectrogram of x(t) is given by

$$\left|\mathbb{V}_{x}(t,\eta)\right|^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left|\mathbb{V}_{x_{k}}(t,\eta)\right|^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{\substack{l=1\\l\neq k}}^{N} \mathbb{V}_{x_{k}}(t,\eta) \,\mathbb{V}_{x_{l}}^{*}(t,\eta)$$

3.2.1 First-Order FSST

First, by considering the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ with a constant instantaneous frequency (IF), c > 0, the STFT of x(t), $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)$, is given by

$$\mathbb{V}_{x}(t,\eta) = e^{i2\pi ct} \,\widehat{u}(\eta - c). \tag{3.2.1.1}$$

Now, by taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of equation (3.2.1.1) with respect to t, the exact IF, c, of x(t) can be obtained by

$$c = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)}{i2\pi \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)}$$

From that, we conclude that for a general signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, at (t, η) on which $\mathbb{V}_x(t, \eta) \neq 0$, the first-order phase transformation, which is the best candidate to estimate the IF, is defined by

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(t,\eta) = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)}{i2\pi \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)}.$$
(3.2.1.2)

The synchrosqueezing transform based on STFT (FSST) is to reassign the (complex) coefficients $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)$ according to the map $(t,\eta) \longrightarrow (t, \Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(t,\eta))$, which means reassigning the frequency variable η by transforming the STFT of x(t), $\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)$, to a quantity on the time-frequency plane:

$$S_x^{\text{STFT}}(t,\xi) = \int_{\{\zeta: \mathbb{V}_x(t,\zeta)\neq 0\}} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\zeta) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(t,\zeta) - \xi) \ d\zeta, \qquad (3.2.1.3)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable. Thus, considering $u(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ with $u(0) \neq 0$, a mono-component signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ can be retrieved back by

$$x(t) = \frac{1}{u(0)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} S_x^{\text{STFT}}(t,\xi) \, d\xi.$$
 (3.2.1.4)

Note that when x(t) and u(t) are real-valued functions, then

$$x(t) = \frac{2}{u(0)} \operatorname{Re}\left(\int_0^\infty S_x^{\text{STFT}}(t,\xi) d\xi\right).$$
 (3.2.1.5)

However, for a multicomponent signal x(t) defined in (2.2.2.3), when $A_k(t)$ and $\phi_k(t)$ satisfy certain conditions as in definition 2.2.1, each component $x_k(t)$ can be retrieved back from the FSST, i.e., for some $\Gamma > 0$

$$x_k(t) \approx \frac{1}{u(0)} \int_{|\xi - \phi'_k(t)| < \Gamma} S_x^{\text{STFT}}(t,\xi) d\xi.$$
 (3.2.1.6)

In figure 3.1, a multicomponent test signal given by

$$x(t) = x_1(t) + x_2(t) = \cos(2\pi(2t + 0.2\cos(t))) + \cos(2\pi(3t + 0.02t^2))$$

is used and sampled uniformly with 512 sample points, where $0 \le t \le 30$. The STFT of x(t) and the corresponding SST are implemented with the Gaussian window function defined by $g(t) = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{t^2}{2\sigma^2}}$, or in the FD by $\hat{g}(\xi) = e^{-2\pi^2 \sigma^2 \xi^2}$, where the window width σ used with this example is selected to be 0.025.



Figure 3.1: Top row: The signal x(t) and the ideal IFs of $x_1(t)$ (blue) and $x_2(t)$ (red); Bottom row: The STFT and the corresponding SST (FSST).

3.2.2 Second-Order FSST

The second-order SST was introduced in [49]. It aims on how to adapt SST to a signal x(t) that is a linear frequency modulation (LFM) signal (i.e., linear chirp) and defined by

$$x(t) = A(t) e^{i2\pi\phi(t)} = e^{pt + \frac{q}{2}t^2} e^{i2\pi(ct + \frac{r}{2}t^2)}, \qquad (3.2.2.1)$$

with phase function $\phi(t) = ct + \frac{r}{2}t^2$, the IF $\phi'(t) = c + rt$, chirp rate $\phi''(t) = r$ and the IA $A(t) = e^{pt + \frac{q}{2}t^2}$, where $p, q \in \mathbb{R}$ and |p| and |q| are much smaller than c, which is positive. Note that, in [50] the reassignment operators are used to get the derivation of the second-order phase transformation of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, denoted $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(t,\eta)$, where a compact TF representation can be achieved. However, it is possible to derive the second-order phase transformation, $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(t,\eta)$, without using the reassignment operators, which can be defined as

where $\mathcal{T}u := tu(t)$ and

$$J_F(t,\eta) = \frac{1}{\frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \left(\frac{\mathbb{V}_x^{\mathcal{T}u}(t,\eta)}{\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)} \right)} \times \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)}{\mathbb{V}_x(t,\eta)} \right).$$

Now for a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the second-order FSST of x(t) is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{STFT}}(t,\xi) = \int_{\{\zeta: \mathbb{V}_x(t,\zeta)\neq 0\}} \mathbb{V}_x(t,\zeta) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(t,\zeta) - \xi) \ d\zeta.$$

CHAPTER 4

Fractional CWT-based Synchrosqueezing transform

4.1 Fractional Fourier transform

The fractional Fourier transform (FrFT) was reintroduced in the signal processing by Almeida in 1994 as a generalization of the traditional Fourier transform, which represents a given signal in the fractional Fourier domain (FrFD) [1].

Definition 4.1.1. For a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the α -order FrFT of x(t) is defined by

$$X_{\alpha}(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) K_{\alpha}(t,\xi) dt.$$
(4.1.1)

 $K_{\alpha}(t,\xi)$ is called the transform kernel which is given by

$$K_{\alpha}(t,\xi) = \begin{cases} B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi[t^{2}+\xi^{2}]\cot(\alpha)-it\xi\csc(\alpha)}, & \alpha \neq j\pi; \\ \delta(t-\xi), & \alpha = 2j\pi; \\ \delta(t+\xi), & \alpha = (2j+1)\pi, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.2)

where $B_{\alpha} = \sqrt{(1 - i \cot(\alpha))/2\pi}$ and j is an integer number. The α -order FrFT can be considered as a rotation of signal in the TF plane for an angle α . Now, by letting that $x \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ such that its α -order FrFT $X_{\alpha} \in L_1(\mathbb{R})$, x(t) can be retrieved back from its α -order FrFT, $X_{\alpha}(\xi)$. For that, we indeed want to introduce the inverse of the α -order FrFT which can be considered as a rotation for an angle $-\alpha$ and defined by

$$x(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha}(\xi) \,\overline{K_{\alpha}(t,\xi)} \,d\xi, \qquad (4.1.3)$$

where $\overline{K_{\alpha}(t,\xi)} = K_{-\alpha}(t,\xi)$. Notice that the argument ξ used here is termed the FrFD-frequency, and it is to represent a new physical quantity that is extended from the frequency concept to the FrFD-frequency where we can interpret the FrFT as the FrFD-spectrum. In short briefing, the relationship between FrFT and FT can clearly be seen by setting $a = \cot(\alpha)$, $b = \csc(\alpha)$ and $c = \sqrt{1 - i \cot(\alpha)}$ in equations (4.1.1) and (4.1.2) to have

$$X_{\alpha}(\xi) = e^{i\pi a\xi^2} \, \widehat{y}(b\xi), \text{ where } \widehat{y}(b\xi) \text{ is the FT of } y(t) = c \, x(t) \, e^{i\pi at^2}.$$

Likewise, the well-known Parseval identity for FT can be extended to the FrFT as well, which will be used to write some transformations in the fractional frequencydomain and is defined by

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \,\overline{y(t)} \, dt = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha}(\xi) \,\overline{Y_{\alpha}(\xi)} \, d\xi.$$
(4.1.4)

4.2 Fractional continuous wavelet transform

For a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the α -order fractional continuous wavelet transform (FrCWT) of x(t) is defined by

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = \langle x(t), \psi_{\alpha,a,b}(t) \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \ \overline{\psi_{\alpha,a,b}(t)} \, dt, \qquad (4.2.1)$$

where the α -order fractional family of wavelets $\psi_{\alpha,a,b}(t)$ is defined by multiplying the conventional family of wavelets $\psi_{a,b}(t)$ with a chirp as follows [8]

$$\psi_{\alpha,a,b}(t) = e^{-i\pi \left(t^2 - b^2 - \left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)^2\right) \cot(\alpha)} \psi_{a,b}(t).$$
(4.2.2)

Thus by using Parseval identity defined above in (4.1.4), the α -order FrCWT in the FrFD is given by [22]

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = A_\alpha \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_\alpha(\xi) \overline{\Psi_\alpha(a\xi)} K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) d\xi, \qquad (4.2.3)$$

where $A_{\alpha} = \sqrt{2\pi/(1+i\cot(\alpha))}$. Now from equations (4.2.1) and (4.2.2), the α -order FrCWT becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \, e^{i\pi \left(t^2 - b^2 - \left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)^2\right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \overline{\psi_{a,b}(t)} \, dt, \qquad (4.2.4)$$

or it can be simplified and defined as

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = W_{\widetilde{x}}^{\psi}(a,b) \ e^{-i\pi(a^2+1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)},\tag{4.2.5}$$

where

$$\widetilde{x}(t) := x(t) e^{\frac{i\pi}{a^2} \left((a^2 - 1)t^2 + 2bt \right) \cot(\alpha)}.$$
 (4.2.6)

From equation (4.2.3), the analyzed signal x(t) can be retrieved back from the α -order FrCWT as follows

$$x(t) = \frac{c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1}}{2\pi\sin(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \,\psi_{\alpha,a,b}(t) \,\frac{da}{a^2} \,db,$$
(4.2.7)

where

$$c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} = \int_0^\infty \left|\Psi_{\alpha}(\xi)\right|^2 \frac{d\xi}{\xi} < \infty.$$
(4.2.8)

In the following proposition, on the other hand, it will be shown that we can verify that the original signal x(b) can be retrieved back from the α -order FrCWT with integral involving only the scale variable a:

Proposition 4.2.1. Let $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)$ be the α -order FrCWT of a signal x(t) defined in (4.2.3). Then x(t) can be retrieved back by

$$x(b) = c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (4.2.9)$$

where $c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} \neq 0$ is defined to be

$$c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} = A_{\alpha} \times \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{i\pi\eta^{2}\cot(\alpha)} \overline{\Psi_{\alpha}(\eta)} \frac{d\eta}{\eta}.$$
(4.2.10)

Proof. By integrating both sides of equation (4.2.3) with integral involving only the scale variable a, we can have

$$\int_0^\infty W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \frac{da}{a} = A_\alpha \times \int_0^\infty \int_{-\infty}^\infty e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_\alpha(\xi) \overline{\Psi_\alpha(a\xi)} K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) d\xi \frac{da}{a}$$
$$= A_\alpha \times \int_{-\infty}^\infty X_\alpha(\xi) K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) \int_0^\infty e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} \overline{\Psi_\alpha(a\xi)} \frac{da}{a} d\xi.$$

Since $\overline{K_{\alpha}(b,\xi)} = K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b)$ and with this setting

$$\int_0^\infty e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2\cot(\alpha)} \ \overline{\Psi_\alpha(a\xi)} \ \frac{da}{a} = \int_0^\infty e^{i\pi\eta^2\cot(\alpha)} \ \overline{\Psi_\alpha(\eta)} \ \frac{d\eta}{\eta},$$

we will have

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \, \frac{da}{a} &= \int_{-\infty}^\infty X_\alpha(\xi) \, \overline{K_\alpha(b,\xi)} \left(A_\alpha \times \int_0^\infty e^{i\pi\eta^2 \cot(\alpha)} \, \overline{\Psi_\alpha(\eta)} \, \frac{d\eta}{\eta} \right) d\xi \\ &= c_{\Psi_\alpha} \int_{-\infty}^\infty X_\alpha(\xi) \, \overline{K_\alpha(b,\xi)} \, d\xi \\ &= c_{\Psi_\alpha} \, x(b), \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of (4.2.9).

Now, equation (4.2.4) can be rewritten as follows

$$W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = e^{-i\pi(a^{2}+1)\frac{b^{2}}{a^{2}}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) e^{i\pi\left(\frac{a^{2}-1}{a^{2}}\right)\cot(\alpha)t^{2}} e^{i2\pi\frac{b}{a^{2}}\cot(\alpha)t} \overline{\psi_{a,b}(t)} dt,$$
(4.2.11)

and by setting

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = x(t) e^{i\pi \left(\frac{a^2-1}{a^2}\right)\cot(\alpha)t^2} \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_1(t) = e^{-i2\pi \frac{b}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)t} \ \psi_{a,b}(t),$$

it becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = e^{-i\pi(a^2+1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widetilde{x}(t) \,\overline{\psi_1(t)} \, dt.$$
(4.2.12)

Using Parseval identity of FT will help to write (4.2.12) as follows

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = e^{-i\pi(a^2+1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\widetilde{x}}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}_1(\xi)} d\xi, \qquad (4.2.13)$$

where FT of $\psi_1(t)$, $\widehat{\psi}_1(\xi)$, is defined by

$$\widehat{\psi}_1(\xi) = e^{-i2\pi \left(\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha) + \xi b\right)} \widehat{\psi}(\frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha) + a\xi).$$
(4.2.14)

Thus, equation (4.2.13) in its definitive form becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = e^{-i\pi(a^2-1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\widetilde{x}}(\xi) \ \overline{\widehat{\psi}(\frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha) + a\xi)} e^{i2\pi\xi b} d\xi.$$
(4.2.15)

In the figure below, we use the following test signal with two components

$$x(t) = x_1(t) + x_2(t) = e^{2i\pi(30t+10t^2)} + e^{2i\pi(50t+30t^2)}$$
 for $0 \le t \le 1$

which is sampled uniformly with 512 sample points. Observe that the α -order fractional CWT of x(t) defined in (4.2.15) is implemented with Morlet's wavelet using a fixed positive window width $\sigma = 0.9$, where $\mu = 1$ and the rotation angle $\alpha = \frac{9\pi}{16}$; however, by setting $\alpha = \frac{\pi}{2}$, the FrCWT will be the conventional CWT. One can clearly see that the α -order FrCWT provides more energy concentration than the conventional CWT.



Figure 4.1: Top row: The signal x(t) and the ideal IFs of $x_1(t)$ (red) and $x_2(t)$ (blue); Bottom row: FrCWT of x(t) with $\sigma = 0.9$, $\mu = 1$ and $\alpha = \frac{9\pi}{16}$ (Left); Conventional CWT when $\alpha = \frac{\pi}{2}$ (Middle); SST (WSST) when $\alpha = \frac{\pi}{2}$ (Right).
4.3 FrCWT-based synchrosqueezing transform

4.3.1 First-Order FrWSST

The derivation of the first-order phase transformation can be obtained by rewriting equation (4.2.11) as follows

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1) \, t^2 + 2ab \, t \right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt, \qquad (4.3.1.1)$$

and by considering the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ with a constant frequency c > 0, the α -order FCrWT of x(t), $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)$, becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i2\pi \left((a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \frac{t^2}{2} + (ac + ab\cot(\alpha))t + bc \right)} \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt.$$
(4.3.1.2)

Now, taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of equation (4.3.1.2) with respect to b will lead to have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = i2\pi c \ W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) + i2\pi a \ \cot(\alpha) \ W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b), \tag{4.3.1.3}$$

where $\mathcal{T}\psi := t\psi(t)$ and

$$W_x^{\alpha,\tau_{\psi}}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i2\pi \left((a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \frac{t^2}{2} + (ac + ab\cot(\alpha))t + bc \right)} t \,\overline{\psi(t)} \, dt.$$
(4.3.1.4)

Thus, by dividing both sides of equation (4.3.1.3) by $i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)$, we will obtain the exact IF, c, of the chirp signal x(t) which is given by

$$c = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} - a \operatorname{cot}(\alpha) \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right\}$$

In conclusion, the first-order phase transformation, which is the best candidate to estimate the IF, of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ is given by

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a,b) = \text{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} - a \,\cot(\alpha)\,\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right\}.$$
(4.3.1.5)

The synchrosqueezed FrCWT (FrWSST) will reassign the scale variable a to the FrFD frequency variable for getting more sharpened time-frequency representation of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Thus, the FrWSST is to transform the FrCWT, $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)$, of x(t) to a quantity, denoted $S_x^{\text{FrCWT}}(\xi,b)$, on the time-FrFD-frequency plane, and it is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{FrCWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (4.3.1.6)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable.

The analyzed signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ can be retrieved back from FrWSST and, therefore, for a mono-component signal and $c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} \neq 0$, by (4.2.9), we have

$$x(b) = c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1} \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{\text{FrCWT}}(\xi, b) \, d\xi.$$
(4.3.1.7)

However, for a multicomponent signal x(t) in (2.2.2.3), when $A_k(t)$ and $\phi_k(t)$ satisfy certain conditions as in definition 2.2.1, each component $x_k(t)$ can be retrieved back from FrWSST, i.e., for $\Gamma > 0$

$$x_k(b) \approx c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1} \int_{|\xi - \phi'_k(b)| < \Gamma} S_x^{\text{FrCWT}}(\xi, b) \, d\xi.$$
 (4.3.1.8)

4.3.2 Second-Order FrWSST

Here in this subsection, equation (4.3.1.1) will be used to derive the second-order phase transformation of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. This new phase transformation is associated with the second-order partial derivative of the FrCWT of a linear frequency modulation signal x(t) defined in (3.2.2.1), which again be displayed here

$$x(t) = A(t) e^{i2\pi\phi(t)} = e^{pt + \frac{q}{2}t^2} e^{i2\pi(ct + \frac{r}{2}t^2)}, \qquad (4.3.2.1)$$

where

$$x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt)) x(t).$$
(4.3.2.2)

Therefore, by taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of equation (4.3.1.1) with respect to b and then using equations (4.3.2.1) and (4.3.2.2), we will have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) = \left(\left(p + i2\pi c \right) + \left(q + i2\pi r \right) b \right) W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) + a \left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha)) \right) W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b).$$

$$(4.3.2.3)$$

By dividing both sides of this above equation (4.3.2.3) by $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} = p + i2\pi c + (q + i2\pi r)b$$

$$+ a \left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha))\right) \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathcal{T}\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)},$$
(4.3.2.4)

and then taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides with respect to a, we will have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right) = \left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha)) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right). \tag{4.3.2.5}$$

Thus, for $J_{\alpha}(a,b) = \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \ \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{T}_{\psi}}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$, we have

$$q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha)) = \frac{1}{J_{\alpha}(a,b)} \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right).$$
(4.3.2.6)

Now, by substituting (4.3.2.6) into (4.3.2.4), we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) + a \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathcal{T}\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \times J_{\alpha}(a,b)} \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right),$$
(4.3.2.7)

and, therefore, the exact IF, $\phi'(t) = c + rb$, of x(t) given in (4.3.2.1) is defined by

$$\phi'(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} - \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \times J_\alpha(a,b)}\right) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right)\right\}.$$
(4.3.2.8)

For a general signal x(t), the phase transformation of x(t) is defined as

Based on this derivation, we provide the following theorem where its proof is given in Appendix.

Theorem 4.3.1. If x(t) is an LFM signal given by (4.3.2.1), then at (a,b) on which $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$, $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a,b)$ defined by (4.3.2.9) is the IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a,b) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$.

Ultimately, with this phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a,b)$ given above in (4.3.2.9), the second-order FrWSST, $S_x^{\text{FrGWT}}(\xi,b)$, of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{FrCWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a, b) - \xi) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (4.3.2.10)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable. For reconstructing a mono-component signal x(t) or a multicomponent signal $x(t) = \sum_k x_k(t)$ from the second-order FrWSST, it can similarly be defined as that with $\Omega_x^{1st}(a, b)$ for FrWSST.

CHAPTER 5

IFE-Fractional CWT-based SST

5.1 IFE-CWT-based SST

First, we open Chapter 5 by introducing new approximations of the phase transformation that are associated with the first- and the second-order partial derivatives of the IFE-CWT of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. They aim at achieving an accurate IF estimation when a rough estimation of the IF of a targeted component is used. Afterward, we describe another proposed work to generate a time-FrFD-frequency representation with satisfactory energy concentration; namely, the instantaneous frequency embedded fractional CWT (IFE-FrCWT), and then introducing new synchrosqueezing transforms based on the IFE-FrCWT that will be used for the purpose of enhancing the concentration of the TF representation.

5.1.1 First-Order IFE-WSST

For $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, we can rewrite equation (2.5.2) as follows

$$W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{-i2\pi \left(\varphi(at+b) - \varphi(b) - (\varphi'(b) + \xi_0) \, at - \xi_0 b\right)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt, \quad (5.1.1.1)$$

and by considering the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ with a constant frequency c > 0, the IFE-CWT of x(t) becomes

$$W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c)\,at + i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b + cb)} \,\overline{\psi(t)}\,dt.$$
(5.1.1.2)

Thus from (5.1.1.2), we will have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = -i2\pi W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) + i2\pi a \,\varphi''(b) \, W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b) + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c) \, W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b).$$
(5.1.1.3)

Therefore, at (a, b) on which $W_x^{E,\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$, the exact IF, c, of the chirp signal x(t) is given by

$$c = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - a\,\varphi''(b)\,\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0.$$

Thus, for a general signal x(t), the first-order phase transformation at (a, b) on which $W_x^{E,\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ is defined to be

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a,b) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - a\,\varphi''(b)\,\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0.$$
(5.1.1.4)

Eventually, the IFE synchrosqueezing transform (IFE-WSST) of x(t), denoted $S_x^{\text{E-CWT}}(\xi, b)$, is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{E-CWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\text{E}, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\text{E}, \psi}(a, b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (5.1.1.5)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable.

Now, with equation (2.5.5), the input signal x(t) can be retrieved back from the IFE-WSST as follows

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1} e^{-i2\pi\xi_0 b} \int_0^\infty S_x^{\text{E-CWT}}(\xi, b) d\xi.$$
 (5.1.1.6)

In addition, the kth component $x_k(t)$ of x(t) defined in (2.2.2.3), which satisfying certain conditions, can be retrieved back from the IFE-WSST as follows

$$x_{k}(b) \approx c_{\psi}^{-1} \ e^{-i2\pi\xi_{0}b} \int_{|\xi - \phi_{k}'(b)| < \Gamma} S_{x}^{\text{E-CWT}}(\xi, b) \, d\xi, \qquad (5.1.1.7)$$

for certain $\Gamma > 0$.

5.1.2 Second-Order IFE-WSST

The major idea is to define a new phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}$ which is associated with the second-order partial derivative of the IFE-CWT of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. Notice that the derivation of the phase transformation and the provided formulation for $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}$ are slightly different not only from that was introduced in [47], where it was based on reassignment operators, but also from that was presented in [30]. Now, for a linear frequency modulation signal x(t) defined in (3.2.2.1), taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of equation (5.1.1.1) with respect to *b* gives that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = \left(p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \right) W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)
+ \left(q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b)) \right) a W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)
- i2\pi W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b).$$
(5.1.2.1)

Thus at (a, b) on which $W_x^{E,\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb)
+ (q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b))) a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}
- i2\pi \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}$$
(5.1.2.2)

Now, taking partial derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of this above equation leads to have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) }{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) = \left(q + i2\pi (r + \varphi''(b)) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) - i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right).$$
(5.1.2.3)

Thus we see that

$$q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b)) = \frac{1}{J^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \right],$$
(5.1.2.4)

where $J^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b) = \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E}, \mathcal{T}\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$. Now by substituting (5.1.2.4) into (5.1.2.2), we will have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb)
- i2\pi \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \cdot J^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b)} \times
\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \right]$$
(5.1.2.5)

Therefore, the exact IF, $\phi'(b) = c + rb$, of the linear frequency modulation x(t) given in (3.2.2.1) is defined by

$$\phi'(b) = c + rb = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right)\right] \times a\frac{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times J^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b)}\right)\right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_{0}.$$
(5.1.2.6)

For a general signal x(t), the phase transformation of x(t) is defined by

$$\Omega_{x}^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a,b) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ i2\pi W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ i2\pi W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ i2\pi W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \end{array} \right\} + \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \\ \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ i2\pi W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \end{array} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \\ \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times J^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b) \end{array} \right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_{0}; \\ \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - a\varphi''(b) \\ \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \end{array} \right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_{0}; \\ \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \\ \end{array} \right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_{0}; \\ \\ \text{when } W_{x}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \neq 0 \text{ and } J^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b) = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.1.2.7)$$

Thus, we provide the following theorem where its proof is given in Appendix.

Theorem 5.1.1. If x(t) is an LFM signal given by (4.3.2.1), then at (a,b) on which $W_x^{E,\psi}(a,b) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{E,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{E,\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$, $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a,b)$ defined by (5.1.2.7) is the IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a,b) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$.

Ultimately, with this phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a, b)$ defined above in (5.1.2.7), the second-order IEF-WSST, $S_x^{E^{-CWT}}(\xi, b)$, of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ is defined as in (5.1.1.5)

$$S_x^{\text{E-CWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\text{E},\psi}(a,b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\text{E},\psi}(a,b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (5.1.2.8)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable. Reconstructing a mono-component signal x(t) or multicomponent signal $x(t) = \sum_k x_k(t)$ from the second-order IEF-WSST will be similar to that were defined in (5.1.1.6) and (5.1.1.7) respectively with $\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b)$ for IEF-WSST.

5.2 Instantaneous frequency-embedded FrCWT

For a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, we consider the generalized signal form given by

$$x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(t) = x(t) \ e^{-i2\pi(\varphi(t) - \varphi(b) - \varphi'(b)(t-b) - \xi_0 t)}, \tag{5.2.1}$$

where $\varphi(t)$ is a differentiable function with $\varphi' > 0$ and $\xi_0 > 0$. Then the α order instantaneous frequency embedded fractional continuous wavelet transform
(IFE-FrCWT), denoted $W_x^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b)$, is defined as follows

$$W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) = \langle x_{\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(t), \psi_{\alpha, a, b}(t) \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(t) \ \overline{\psi_{\alpha, a, b}(t)} \, dt, \tag{5.2.2}$$

where $\psi_{\alpha,a,b}$ is defined in (4.2.2). Thus, from equations (5.2.1) and (5.2.2), the α -order IFE-FrCWT of x(t) can be written in the following form

$$W_{x}^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b) = e^{i2\pi\varphi(b) - i\pi(1 + a^{2})\frac{b^{2}}{a^{2}}\cot(\alpha) - i2\pi b\,\varphi'(b)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widetilde{x}(t)\,\overline{\widetilde{\psi}(t)}\,dt, \qquad (5.2.3)$$

where

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = x(t) e^{-i2\pi\varphi(t) + i\pi\left(1 - \frac{1}{a^2}\right)\cot(\alpha) t^2}, \qquad (5.2.4)$$

and

$$\widetilde{\psi}(t) = e^{-i2\pi(\xi_0 + \frac{b}{a^2}\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) t} \psi_{a,b}(t).$$
(5.2.5)

Now, the FT of $\tilde{\psi}(t)$ is given by

$$\widehat{\widetilde{\psi}}(\xi) = e^{-i2\pi(\xi_0 + \xi + \frac{b}{a^2}\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) b} \ \widehat{\psi}(a\xi + a\xi_0 + a\varphi'(b) + \frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha)), \qquad (5.2.6)$$

and by using Parseval identity of FT, the α -order IFE-FrCWT is defined by

$$W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b)+\xi_0 b + \left(\frac{1-a^2}{2a^2}\right)b^2 \cot(\alpha))} \\ \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\widehat{x}}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}(a\xi + a\xi_0 + a\varphi'(b) + \frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha))} \, e^{i2\pi\xi b} \, d\xi.$$
(5.2.7)

Since the α -order FrFT of $x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(t)$ given by (5.2.1) can be defined as

$$X_{\alpha;\varphi,b,\xi_0}(\xi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(t) K_{\alpha}(t,\xi) dt, \qquad (5.2.8)$$

and by using Parseval identity of FrFT defined in (4.1.4), we provide the following proposition to define the α -order IFE-FrCWT in the FrFD.

Proposition 5.2.1. Let $W_x^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b)$ be the α -order IFE-FrCWT of a signal x(t) defined in (5.2.2). Then, for $A_{\alpha} = \sqrt{2\pi/(1 + i \cot(\alpha))}$, the α -order IFE-FrCWT in the FrFD is given by

$$W_x^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b) = A_\alpha \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_{\alpha;\varphi,b,\xi_0}(\xi) \overline{\Psi_\alpha(a\xi)} K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) d\xi.$$
(5.2.9)

Proof. By taking the α -order FrFT on both sides of equation (4.2.2), we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{\alpha,a,b}(\xi) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{\alpha,a,b}(t) \, K_{\alpha}(t,\xi) \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\pi(t^2 - b^2 - (\frac{t-b}{a})^2)\cot(\alpha)} \, \psi_{a,b}(t) \, B_{\alpha} \, e^{i\pi(t^2 + \xi^2)\cot(\alpha) - it\xi\csc(\alpha)} \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{a} \, \psi\big(\frac{t-b}{a}\big) \, B_{\alpha} \, e^{i\pi(b^2 + \xi^2)\cot(\alpha) - it\xi\csc(\alpha)} \, e^{i\pi(\frac{t-b}{a})^2 \cot(\alpha)} \, dt, \end{split}$$

which we can rewrite it as follows

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{\alpha,a,b}(\xi) &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{a} \psi(\frac{t-b}{a}) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi(b^2+\xi^2)\cot(\alpha)-i\left(\frac{t-b}{a}+\frac{b}{a}\right)a\xi\csc(\alpha)} \\ & B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left((\frac{t-b}{a})^2+(a\xi)^2-(a\xi)^2\right)\cot(\alpha)} \right) dt \\ &= \frac{e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2\cot(\alpha)}}{B_{\alpha}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{a} \psi(\frac{t-b}{a}) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left((\frac{t-b}{a})^2+(a\xi)^2\right)\cot(\alpha)-i\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)a\xi\csc(\alpha)} \\ & B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi(b^2+\xi^2)\cot(\alpha)-ib\xi\csc(\alpha)} \right) dt \\ &= \frac{e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2\cot(\alpha)}}{B_{\alpha}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi(\frac{t-b}{a}) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left((\frac{t-b}{a})^2+(a\xi)^2\right)\cot(\alpha)-i\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)a\xi\csc(\alpha)} \\ & K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) d\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi(t) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left(t^2+(a\xi)^2\right)\cot(\alpha)-ita\xi\csc(\alpha)} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi(t) K_{\alpha}(t,a\xi) dt \\ &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) \Psi_{\alpha}(a\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2\cot(\alpha)}. \end{split}$$

From the Parseval identity of the FrFT defined in (4.1.4) and then substituting $\Psi_{\alpha,a,b}(\xi) = \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) \Psi_{\alpha}(a\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)}$ into (5.2.2), we will have

$$\begin{split} W_x^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b) &= \langle X_{\alpha;\varphi,b,\xi_0}(\xi), \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) \Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} \rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{\overline{B}_{\alpha}} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_{\alpha;\varphi,b,\xi_0}(\xi) \overline{\Psi_{\alpha}(a\xi)} \overline{K_{\alpha}(b,\xi)} d\xi \\ &= A_{\alpha} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_{\alpha;\varphi,b,\xi_0}(\xi) \overline{\Psi_{\alpha}(a\xi)} K_{-\alpha}(b,\xi) d\xi. \end{split}$$

This proves (5.2.9).

In the following proposition, we will see that the original signal x(b) can be retrieved back from its α -order IFE-FrCWT with integral involving only the scale variable a.

Proposition 5.2.2. Let $W_x^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b)$ be the α -order IFE-FrCWT of a signal x(t) defined in (5.2.9). Then x(t) can be retrieved back by

$$x(b) = c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1} e^{-i2\pi\xi_0 b} \int_0^\infty W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (5.2.10)$$

where $c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} \neq 0$ is as defined in (4.2.10).

Proof. Integrating both sides of equation (5.2.9) with integral involving only the scale variable a leads to have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{x}^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b) \frac{da}{a} &= A_{\alpha} \times \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^{2} \cot(\alpha)} X_{\alpha;\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(\xi) \ \overline{\Psi_{\alpha}(a\xi)} \ K_{-\alpha}(\xi, b) \, d\xi \frac{da}{a} \\ &= A_{\alpha} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha;\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(\xi) \ K_{-\alpha}(\xi, b) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^{2} \cot(\alpha)} \ \overline{\Psi_{\alpha}(a\xi)} \frac{da}{a} \, d\xi \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha;\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(\xi) \ \overline{K_{\alpha}(b, \xi)} \left(A_{\alpha} \times \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{i\pi\eta^{2} \cot(\alpha)} \ \overline{\Psi_{\alpha}(\eta)} \frac{d\eta}{\eta} \right) d\xi \\ &= c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} \ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha;\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(\xi) \ \overline{K_{\alpha}(b, \xi)} \, d\xi \\ &= c_{\Psi_{\alpha}} \ x_{\varphi, b, \xi_{0}}(b). \end{split}$$

From equation (5.2.1), $x_{\varphi,b,\xi_0}(b) = x(b) e^{i2\pi\xi_0 b}$ and then we have

$$\int_0^\infty W_x^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b)\,\frac{da}{a} = c_{\Psi_\alpha} \,\,x(b)\,e^{i2\pi\xi_0 b},$$

which completes the proof of (5.2.10).

5.3 IFE-FrCWT-based SST

5.3.1 First-Order IFE-FrWSST

We can rewrite the α -order IFE-FrCWT of x(t), $W^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b)$, defined in (5.2.2) as follows

$$W_{x}^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{ e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_{0}b) - i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\xi_{0} + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) \, at} \}$$

$$\times e^{i\pi(a^{2}-1)\cot(\alpha) \, t^{2}} x(at+b) \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt,$$
(5.3.1.1)

and by considering the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ with a constant frequency c > 0, the α -order IFE-FrCWT of x(t) becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha, E, \psi}(a, b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{ e^{-i2\pi(\varphi(at+b) - (\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b) + c)at - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0 b - cb)} \} \times e^{i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha)t^2} \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt.$$
(5.3.1.2)

Now, the first-order phase transformation derivation can be found by taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of this above equation (5.3.1.2) with respect to b; i.e., we can get

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) = -i2\pi W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)
+ i2\pi a(\varphi''(b) + \cot(\alpha)) W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b)
+ i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c) W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b),$$
(5.3.1.3)

where $\mathcal{T}\psi := t\psi(t)$. Thus, if we divide both sides of this above equation (5.3.1.3) by $W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \neq 0$, the exact IF, c, of the chirp signal x(t) can be extracted as follows

$$c = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - a(\varphi''(b) + \cot(\alpha))\frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_{0}.$$
(5.3.1.4)

Ultimately, the first-order phase transformation of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\alpha, \mathbb{E}, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ is given by

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a,b) = \text{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\text{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\text{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\text{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\text{E},\psi}(a,b)} - a(\varphi''(b) + \cot(\alpha))\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\text{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\text{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0.$$
(5.3.1.5)

Thus the first-order IFE-FrWSST, denoted $S_x^{\text{E-FrCWT}}(\xi, b)$, on the time-FrFD-frequency plane is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{E-FrCWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\alpha, \text{E}, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\alpha, \text{E}, \psi}(a, b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \quad (5.3.1.6)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable.

It is very clear now to see that the analyzed signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ can be retrieved back from the first-order IFE-FrWSST. Thus for a mono-component signal and $c_{\Psi\alpha} \neq 0$, by (5.2.10), we have

$$x(b) = c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1} e^{-i2\pi\xi_0 b} \int_0^\infty S_x^{\text{E-FrCWT}}(\xi, b) d\xi.$$
 (5.3.1.7)

However, for a multicomponent signal x(t) defined in (2.2.2.3), when $A_k(t)$ and $\phi_k(t)$ satisfy certain conditions as in definition 2.2.1, each component $x_k(t)$ can be retrieved back from the first-order IFE-FrWSST, i.e., for $\Gamma > 0$

$$x_{k}(b) \approx c_{\Psi_{\alpha}}^{-1} e^{-i2\pi\xi_{0}b} \int_{|\xi-\phi_{k}'(b)|<\Gamma} S_{x}^{\text{E-FrCWT}}(\xi,b) d\xi.$$
(5.3.1.8)

5.3.2 Second-Order IFE-FrWSST

The second-order IFE-FrWSST is considered in this subsection, where equation (5.3.1.1) is displayed here

$$W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{ e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_{0}b) - i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\xi_{0}+b \cot(\alpha)+\varphi'(b)) \, at} \} \times e^{i\pi(a^{2}-1) \cot(\alpha) \, t^{2}} \, x(at+b) \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt,$$
(5.3.2.1)

and then used to derive the second-order phase transformation of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$. This new phase transformation is associated with the second-order partial derivative of the α -order IFE-FrCWT of a linear frequency modulation signal x(t) defined in (3.2.2.1), which also displayed here

$$x(t) = A(t) e^{i2\pi\phi(t)} = e^{pt + \frac{q}{2}t^2} e^{i2\pi(ct + \frac{r}{2}t^2)}, \qquad (5.3.2.2)$$

where

$$x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt)) x(t).$$
(5.3.2.3)

Now, by taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides of the equation (5.3.2.1) with respect to b and then using equations (5.3.2.2) and (5.3.2.3), we will have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathbf{E}, \psi}(a, b) = \left(p + qb + i2\pi (\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \right) W_x^{\alpha, \mathbf{E}, \psi}(a, b)
+ \left((q + i2\pi r) + i2\pi (\cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \right) a W_x^{\alpha, \mathbf{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b)
- i2\pi W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathbf{E}, \psi}(a, b).$$
(5.3.2.4)

Dividing both sides of this above equation (5.3.2.4) by $W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)$ will lead to have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_{0} + c + rb) \\
+ \left((q + i2\pi r) + i2\pi(\cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b))\right)a \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \quad (5.3.2.5) \\
- i2\pi \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)},$$

and then by taking the first-order partial derivative of both sides with respect to a, we get

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) = \left((q + i2\pi r) + i2\pi (\cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \\
- i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right)$$
(5.3.2.6)

Thus we see that

$$q + i2\pi r + i2\pi(\cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) = \frac{1}{J_{\alpha}^{E}(a,b)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b)}\right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha,E,\psi}(a,b)}\right)\right]$$
(5.3.2.7)

where $J_{\alpha}^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b) = \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\mathcal{T}\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$. Now by substituting (5.3.2.7) into (5.3.2.5), we will have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \\
+ \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \right] \quad (5.3.2.8) \\
\times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times J_\alpha^{\mathrm{E}}(a,b)} + i2\pi \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)},$$

and then the exact IF, $\phi'(t)$, of x(t) given in (5.3.2.2) is defined by

$$\phi'(b) = c + rb = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} - \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}\right)\right]$$
(5.3.2.9)
$$\times a \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b)}{W_{x}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) \times J_{\alpha}^{\mathrm{E}}(a, b)}\right) - \varphi'(b) - \xi_{0}.$$

For a general signal x(t), the phase transformation of x(t) is defined as

Thus, from this above derivation we provide the following theorem where its proof is given in Appendix.

Theorem 5.3.1. If x(t) is an LFM signal given by (4.3.2.1), then at (a,b) on which $W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \mathcal{T}\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \neq 0$, $\Omega_x^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a, b)$ defined by (5.3.2.10) is the IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a, b) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$.

Eventually, with this phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a, b)$ defined above in (5.3.2.10), the second-order IEF-FrWSST, $S_x^{\text{E-FrCWT}}(\xi, b)$, of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ is defined as in (5.3.1.6)

$$S_x^{\text{E-FrCWT}}(\xi, b) = \int_{\{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\alpha, \text{E}, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0\}} W_x^{\alpha, \text{E}, \psi}(a, b) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a, b) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \quad (5.3.2.11)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable. Reconstructing a mono-component signal x(t) or multicomponent signal $x(t) = \sum_k x_k(t)$ back from the second-order IEF-FrWSST is similar to those were defined in (5.3.1.7) and (5.3.1.8) respectively with $\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b)$ for IEF-FrWSST.

CHAPTER 6

Adaptive FrCWT - Based SST

In a recent study, a time-varying window width was adapted to the SST based on the STFT, where minimizing the Rényi entropy of the SST is the used way to select the width of the window [55]. Later on, Li, Cai and Jiang in [35] proposed the adaptive CWT and its corresponding SST's with a time-varying parameter. As known in the literature on SST, the common used continuous wavelets for the SST based on the CWT are the bump wavelet $\psi_{\text{bump}}(t)$ defined by

$$\widehat{\psi}_{\text{bump}}(\xi) = e^{1 - \frac{1}{1 - \sigma^2(\xi - \mu)^2}} \chi_{(\mu - \frac{1}{\sigma}, \mu + \frac{1}{\sigma})}(\xi) \quad \text{with} \quad \sigma\mu > 1,$$
(6.1)

and the Morlet's wavelet $\psi_{\text{Morlet}}(t)$ defined by

$$\widehat{\psi}_{\text{Morlet}}(\xi) = e^{-2\sigma^2 \pi^2 (\xi - \mu)^2} - e^{-2\sigma^2 \pi^2 (\xi + \mu)^2}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where $\sigma > 0$ and $\mu > 0$. In these wavelets, the parameter, σ , controls the width of the TF localization window, and it is constantly selected to be a fixed positive constant. However, the authors in [35] considered a time-varying parameter, $\sigma(t)$, in their study to define the CWT (called the adaptive CWT) and its corresponding SST's for IF estimation and multicomponent signal separation.

6.1 Adaptive CWT

We briefly review the CWT with a time-varying parameter in this section by considering the continuous wavelets of the form

$$\psi_{\sigma}(t) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \overline{\vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma})} e^{i2\pi\,\mu t} - \frac{1}{\sigma} \overline{\vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma})} c_{\sigma}(\mu), \qquad (6.1.1)$$

or, in the frequency domain,

$$\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma}(\xi) = \overline{\widehat{\vartheta}(\sigma(\mu - \xi))} - c_{\sigma}(\mu) \,\overline{\widehat{\vartheta}(\sigma\xi)}, \qquad (6.1.2)$$

where $\mu > 0$, $\vartheta(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ with certain decaying order as $t \to \infty$ and $c_{\sigma}(\mu)$ is a constant such that $\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma}(0) = 0$. One can let $c_{\sigma}(\mu) = 0$ if $\widehat{\vartheta}(-\sigma\mu) = 0$; in another respect, one can let $c_{\sigma}(\mu) = \overline{\vartheta}(-\sigma\mu)/\overline{\vartheta}(0)$ if $\widehat{\vartheta}(-\sigma\mu) \neq 0$. For instance, if $\vartheta(t)$ is given by $\widehat{\vartheta}(\xi) = e^{1-\frac{1}{1-\xi^2}} \chi_{(-1,1)}(\xi)$, then $\psi_{\sigma}(t) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \overline{\vartheta}(\frac{t}{\sigma}) e^{i2\pi\,\mu t}$ is the bump wavelet defined in (6.1). However, if $\vartheta(t)$ is the Gaussian function $\vartheta(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{t^2}{2}}$, then $\psi_{\sigma}(t)$ is the Morlet's wavelet defined in (6.2).

It is noticeable that the representation of the CWT is effected by the choice of the parameter σ for the continuous wavelet $\psi_{\sigma}(t)$. Now, by using the time-varying

parameter, $\sigma(t)$, the adaptive CWT of x(t) (a slowly increasing function) with a continuous wavelet ψ_{σ} given in (6.1.1) is defined by

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \langle x(t),\psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t)\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \ \overline{\psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t)} \, dt, \tag{6.1.3}$$

or, in the frequency domain,

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{x}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b)}(a\xi)} \, e^{i2\pi\xi b} d\xi, \qquad (6.1.4)$$

where $\psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t) = \frac{1}{a}\psi_{\sigma(b)}(\frac{t-b}{a})$ is the adaptive family of wavelets and $\sigma(b)$ is a positive function. For restricted a > 0, the above equation (6.1.4) becomes

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_0^\infty \widehat{x}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b)}(a\xi)} \, e^{i2\pi\xi b} d\xi \tag{6.1.5}$$

if ψ_{σ} or x(t) is analytic. Consequently, an analytic signal x(t) can be retrieved back from the adaptive CWT as

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1}(b) \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (6.1.6)$$

where

$$c_{\psi}(b) = \int_0^\infty \overline{\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b)}(a\xi)} \frac{d\xi}{\xi}.$$
(6.1.7)

In addition, if ψ_{σ} is analytic, then a real-valued signal x(t) can be retrieved back as

$$x(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\psi}^{-1}(b) \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \frac{da}{a}\right).$$
(6.1.8)

In practice, ϑ is chosen to be a fast decaying function and therefore the second term in (6.1.2), $c_{\sigma}(\mu) \overline{\vartheta(-\sigma\xi)}$, is extremely small. For instance, when ψ_{σ} is the Morlet's wavelet, the second term in (6.1.2) equals $e^{-2\sigma^2\pi^2(\xi^2+\mu^2)}$ and therefore it is a negligible quantity if $\sigma = \mu = 1$, i.e., $e^{-2\sigma^2\pi^2(\xi^2+\mu^2)} \leq e^{-2\pi^2} = 2.6753 \times 10^{-9}$. Now, it is just for simplification that ψ_{σ} is considered as follows

$$\psi_{\sigma}(t) = \frac{1}{\sigma} \overline{\vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma})} e^{i2\pi\,\mu t}, \qquad (6.1.9)$$

or, in the frequency domain,

$$\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma}(\xi) = \overline{\widehat{\vartheta}(\sigma(\mu - \xi))}.$$
(6.1.10)

Thus, the associated adaptive CWT is defined by

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \vartheta\left(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}\right) e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} dt.$$
(6.1.11)

If ϑ is the Gaussian function, $\vartheta(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{t^2}{2}}$, then

$$\psi_{\sigma}(t) = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\frac{t}{\sigma})^2} e^{i2\pi\mu t}$$
(6.1.12)

or, in the frequency domain,

$$\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma}(\xi) = e^{-2\pi^2 \sigma^2 (\xi - \mu)^2} \tag{6.1.13}$$

is the Morlet's wavelet in the simplified version.

6.2 Adaptive CWT-based SST

6.2.1 First-Order AWSST

To derive the first-order phase transformation, we consider the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ with a constant frequency c > 0. Then from equation (6.1.11), we have

$$W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i2\pi c(at+b)} \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \,\vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt.$$
(6.2.1.1)

Taking the first-order partial derivative of this above equation (6.2.1.1) with respect to b gives that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \left(i2\pi c - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}\right) W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)),$$
(6.2.1.2)

where

$$\psi_2(t) = \frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \,\vartheta'(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \,e^{i2\pi\mu t},\tag{6.2.1.3}$$

or, in the frequency domain, from (2.1.5)

$$\widehat{\psi_2}(\xi) = -\widehat{\vartheta}(\sigma(b)(\xi - \mu)) - \sigma(b)(\mu + \xi)\,\widehat{\vartheta}'(\sigma(b)(\xi - \mu)), \tag{6.2.1.4}$$

and

$$W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \,\frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \,\overline{\vartheta'(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)})} \,e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \,dt.$$
(6.2.1.5)

Thus, if $W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0$, the exact IF, c, of x(t) can be obtained by

$$c = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{i2\pi \sigma(b)}.$$
 (6.2.1.6)

From that, for a general signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the first-order phase transformation of x(t) at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \neq 0$ is given to be the real part of the quantity on the right-hand side of (6.2.1.6)

$$\Omega_x^{1^{st}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}\frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}\right\}.$$
 (6.2.1.7)

Thus the synchrosqueezed ACWT (AWSST), denoted $S_x^{ACWT}(\xi, b; \sigma(b))$, on the time-FD-frequency plane is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{ACWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) = \int_{\mathbf{I}} W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a, b; \sigma(b)) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (6.2.1.8)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable and $I = \{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0\}$. Now, for an analytic mono-component signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, by (6.1.6), it can be retrieved back from the AWSST as

$$x(b) = c_{\psi}^{-1}(b) \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{\text{ACWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) d\xi, \qquad (6.2.1.9)$$

and for a real-valued mono-component signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, by (6.1.8), it can be retrieved back as

$$x(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\psi}^{-1}(b) \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{\operatorname{ACWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) d\xi\right),$$
(6.2.1.10)

where $c_{\psi}(b)$ is defined by (6.1.7). In addition, for multicomponent signal x(t) in (2.2.2.3), the k^{th} component $x_k(b)$ can be retrieved back from the AWSST for certain $\Gamma > 0$ as follows

$$x_{k}(b) \approx \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\psi}^{-1}(b) \int_{|\xi - \phi_{k}'(b)| < \Gamma} S_{x}^{\operatorname{ACWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) d\xi\right).$$
(6.2.1.11)

If ψ_{σ} is as defined by (6.1.13), then

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}\right\} = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{1}{i2\pi} \left(2\pi^2 \sigma^2 (ac-\mu)^2 - 1\right)\right\} = 0.$$

and therefore the first-order phase transformation of x(t) at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \neq 0$ may be defined by

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \text{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}\right\}.$$
(6.2.1.12)

6.2.2 Second-Order AWSST

By considering the linear frequency modulation signal x(t) defined in (3.2.2.1), where $x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt))x(t)$, and from equation (6.1.11) we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x'(at+b) \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} dt - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma^2(b)} \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} dt - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \frac{t\,\sigma'(b)}{\sigma^3(b)} \vartheta'(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} dt,$$
(6.2.2.1)

or as in the following abbreviated form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = (p+qb+i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}) W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))
+ (q+i2\pi r) a \sigma(b) W_x^{\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))
- \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)),$$
(6.2.2.2)

where

$$\psi_1(t) = \frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) e^{i2\pi\mu t}, \qquad (6.2.2.3)$$

or, in the frequency domain, from (2.1.4)

$$\widehat{\psi_1}(\xi) = -i\,\sigma(b)\,(\widehat{\vartheta})'(\sigma(b)(\xi-\mu)),\tag{6.2.2.4}$$

and

$$W_x^{\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \overline{\vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)})} e^{-i2\pi\mu t} dt.$$
(6.2.2.5)

Thus at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \neq 0$ we get

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} = p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} + (q + i2\pi r) a \sigma(b) \frac{W_{x}^{\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_{x}^{\psi_{2}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}.$$
(6.2.2.6)

Now, taking partial derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of this above equation (6.2.2.6) leads to have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) = (q + i2\pi r) \sigma(b) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right).$$
(6.2.2.7)

Thus, if $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \ \frac{W_x^{\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0$, then $(q + i2\pi r) \sigma(b) = J_{\sigma(b)}(a,b)$ where $J_{\sigma(b)}(a,b)$ is defined by

$$J_{\sigma(b)}(a,b) = \frac{1}{\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \; \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \right]$$
(6.2.2.8)

By substituting (6.2.2.8) into (6.2.2.6), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \frac{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} &= p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \\ &+ J_{\sigma(b)}(a,b) \times \ a \ \frac{W_x^{\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \ \frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.2.2.9)

Therefore, the exact IF, $\phi'(b) = c + rb$, of the linear frequency modulation x(b) given in (3.2.2.1) is defined by

$$\phi'(b) = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}(a, b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\psi_1}(a, b; \sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a, b; \sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))} - \frac{1}{i2\pi} (p + qb - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}).$$
(6.2.2.10)

Since $\phi'(b)$ is real, i.e., the real part of $\frac{1}{i2\pi}(p+qb-\frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)})$ is zero, we have

$$\phi'(b) = \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}(a, b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\psi_1}(a, b; \sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\psi_2}(a, b; \sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b))} \right\}.$$
(6.2.2.11)

Eventually, for a general signal x(t), the second-order phase transformation of x(t) is defined by

$$\Omega_{x}^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_{x}^{\psi^{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \\ + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_{x}^{\psi^{2}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \end{array} \right\}; \\ \text{when } W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_{x}^{\psi^{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0; \\ \dots \\ \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_{x}^{\psi^{2}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}; \\ \operatorname{When } W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_{x}^{\psi^{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) = 0. \\ (6.2.2.12) \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, with this phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{\rm nd}}(a,b;\sigma(b)),$ the AWSST of x(t) is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{ACWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) = \int_{\mathbf{I}} W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{\text{2nd}}(a, b; \sigma(b)) - \xi) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (6.2.2.13)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable and $I = \{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \neq 0\}$. The reconstruction formulas for a mono-component signal x(t) or multicomponent signal $x(t) = \sum_k x_k(t)$ from the second-order AWSST are similar to those with $\Omega_x^{1^{st}}(a, b; \sigma(b))$ for AWSST.

The rest of this chapter is left to propose a new work that aims to adapt the concept of the time-varying parameter, $\sigma = \sigma(t)$, to the time-FrFD-frequency representation; namely, the adaptive α -order FrCWT (AFrCWT), and then introducing new SST's based on the AFrCWT for the purpose of enhancing the concentration of TF representations.

6.3 Adaptive FrCWT

We consider the adaptive α -order fractional family of wavelets of the form

$$\psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha,a,b}(t) = e^{-i\pi(t^2 - b^2 - (\frac{t-b}{a})^2)\cot(\alpha)} \psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t), \tag{6.3.1}$$

where $\psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t) = \frac{1}{a}\psi_{\sigma(b)}(\frac{t-b}{a})$. Then we define the α -order FrCWT of a signal

x(t) with a time-varying parameter as follows

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \langle x(t),\psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha,a,b}(t)\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \ \overline{\psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha,a,b}(t)} \, dt, \tag{6.3.2}$$

and, by using Parseval identity defined in (4.1.4), the following proposition presents the definition of the α -order AFrCWT in the FrFD where its proof is similar to the proof of (5.2.9) and given in Appendix for self-containedness.

Proposition 6.3.1. Let $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ be the time-varying α -order FrCWT of a signal x(t) defined in (6.3.2). Then, for $A_{\alpha} = \sqrt{2\pi/(1+i\cot(\alpha))}$, we define the α -order AFrCWT in the FrFD by

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = A_\alpha \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_\alpha(\xi) \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi)} K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) d\xi. \quad (6.3.3)$$

Now from equations (6.3.1) and (6.3.2), the AFrCWT becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(t) \ e^{i\pi \left(t^2 - b^2 - (\frac{t-b}{a})^2\right)\cot(\alpha)} \overline{\psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t)} \ dt, \tag{6.3.4}$$

or in the simplified form as

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = W_{\tilde{x}}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \ e^{-i\pi(a^2+1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)},\tag{6.3.5}$$

where $\tilde{x}(t)$ is defined in (4.2.6). The following proposition shows that the original signal x(b) can be retrieved back from the α -order AFrCWT with integral involving only the scale variable a.

Proposition 6.3.2. Let $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ be the time-varying α -order FrCWT of a signal x(t) defined in (6.3.3). Then x(t) can be retrieved back by

$$x(b) = c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}^{-1}(b) \int_0^\infty W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \frac{da}{a},$$
(6.3.6)

where $c_{\boldsymbol{\Psi}_{\sigma(\boldsymbol{b});\boldsymbol{\alpha}}}(\boldsymbol{b})\neq 0$ is defined by

$$c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}(b) = A_{\alpha} \times \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{i\pi\eta^{2}\cot(\alpha)} \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(\eta)} \frac{d\eta}{\eta}.$$
(6.3.7)

Obtaining equation (6.3.6) is straightforward in the sense that it can directly be followed the way obtaining equation (4.2.9) for the conventional FrCWT. For self-containedness, the proof of this proposition is provided in Appendix. Now, equation (6.3.4) can be rewritten as follows

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = e^{-i\pi(a^2+1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widetilde{x}(t) \,\overline{\psi_{\sigma(b);1}(t)} \,dt, \tag{6.3.8}$$

where $\widetilde{x}(t) = x(t) e^{i\pi(\frac{a^2-1}{a^2})cot(\alpha)t^2}$ and $\psi_{\sigma(b);1}(t) = \psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t) e^{-i2\pi \frac{b}{a^2}cot(\alpha)t}$.

Thus, using Parseval identity of FT helps to write equation (6.3.8) as

$$W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = e^{-i\pi(a^{2}+1)\frac{b^{2}}{a^{2}}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\widetilde{x}}(\xi) \,\overline{\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b);1}(\xi)} \,d\xi, \qquad (6.3.9)$$

where FT of $\psi_{\sigma(b);1}(t)$, $\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b);1}(\xi)$, is given by

$$\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b);1}(\xi) = e^{-i2\pi(\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha) + b\xi)} \ \widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b)}(\frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha) + a\xi), \tag{6.3.10}$$

and then equation (6.3.9) in its definitive form becomes

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = e^{-i\pi(a^2-1)\frac{b^2}{a^2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \widehat{\widetilde{x}}(\xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b)}}\left(\frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha) + a\xi\right)} e^{i2\pi b\xi} d\xi.$$
(6.3.11)

Note that if we set $\alpha = \frac{\pi}{2} \text{ or } 90^{\circ}$, then the AFrCWT, $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))$, is the ACWT, $W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))$. Also, if we assume $\psi_{\sigma(b)}$ to be as defined in (6.1.9) or (6.1.10), then $\widehat{\psi}_{\sigma(b)}(\frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha) + a\xi) = \overline{\widehat{\vartheta}(\sigma(b)(\mu - a\xi - \frac{b}{a}\cot(\alpha)))}$ and thus the associated AFrCWT $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ is defined by

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)t^2+2abt\right)\cot(\alpha)} \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) e^{-i2\pi\mu t} dt.$$
(6.3.12)

6.4 Adaptive FrCWT-based SST

6.4.1 First-Order AFrWSST

We again consider the chirp signal $x(t) = e^{i2\pi ct}$ with a constant frequency c > 0 as an example to derive the first-order phase transformation. By using equation (6.3.12), we have

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i2\pi \left((a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \frac{t^2}{2} + (ac + ab\cot(\alpha))t + cb \right)} \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \vartheta\left(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}\right) e^{-i2\pi \mu t} dt,$$
(6.4.1.1)

Taking the first-order partial derivative of this above equation with respect to b will give us that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = (i2\pi c - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}) W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))
+ i2\pi a \sigma(b) \cot(\alpha) W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))
- \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)),$$
(6.4.1.2)

where $\psi_1(t)$ and $\psi_2(t)$ are defined in (6.2.2.3) and (6.2.1.3) respectively, and $W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ and $W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ are defined by

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right)\cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \, \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt,$$

and

$$W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right)\cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \, \vartheta'(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt.$$

Thus, if $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0$, the exact IF, c, of x(t) can be obtained by

$$c = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - a\,\sigma(b)\cot(\alpha) \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{1}{i2\pi} \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}.$$
(6.4.1.3)

From that, for a general signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, the first-order phase transformation of x(t) at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \neq 0$ is given to be the real part of the quantity on the right-hand side of (6.4.1.3)

$$\Omega_x^{1^{\text{st}}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{ \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - a\,\sigma(b)\cot(\alpha) \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}$$
(6.4.1.4)

Thus the synchrosqueezed AFrCWT (AFrWSST), denoted $S_x^{AFrCWT}(\xi, b; \sigma(b))$, on the time-FrFD-frequency plane is defined by

$$S_x^{\text{AFrCWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) = \int_{\mathbf{I}} W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{\text{1st}}(a, b; \sigma(b)) - \xi) \frac{da}{a}, \qquad (6.4.1.5)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable and $I = \{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0\}$. Now, for an analytic mono-component signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, by (6.3.6), it can be retrieved back from the AFrWSST as

$$x(b) = c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}^{-1}(b) \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{\text{AFrCWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) d\xi, \qquad (6.4.1.6)$$

and for a real-valued mono-component signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$, it can be retrieved back as

$$x(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}^{-1}(b) \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{x}^{\operatorname{AFrCWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) d\xi\right),$$
(6.4.1.7)

where $c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}(b)$ is defined by (6.3.7). In addition, for multicomponent signal x(t) in (2.2.2.3), the k^{th} component $x_k(b)$ can be retrieved back from the AFrWSST for certain $\Gamma > 0$ as follows

$$x_{k}(b) \approx \operatorname{Re}\left(2 c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}^{-1}(b) \int_{|\xi - \phi_{k}'(b)| < \Gamma} S_{x}^{\operatorname{AFrCWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) d\xi\right).$$
(6.4.1.8)

6.4.2 Second-Order AFrWSST

For LFM signal x(t) defined in (3.2.2.1) and by taking $\frac{\partial}{\partial b}$ to both sides of equation (6.3.12), we will have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) &= \left(p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}\right) W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \\ &+ \left(q + i2\pi(r+\cot(\alpha))\right) a \,\sigma(b) \ W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \\ &- \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \ W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)). \end{aligned}$$
(6.4.2.1)

Thus at (a,b) on which $W^{\scriptscriptstyle \alpha,\psi}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))\neq 0$ we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} = p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} + \left(q + i2\pi(r+\cot(\alpha))\right)a\sigma(b)\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))},$$
(6.4.2.2)

and then by taking $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of this above equation (6.4.2.2) we get

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) = \left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha)) \right) \sigma(b) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \\ - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right).$$

$$(6.4.2.3)$$

Thus, if
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0$$
, then
 $\left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha)) \right) \sigma(b) = J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b),$
(6.4.2.4)

where $J^{\alpha}_{_{\sigma(b)}}(a,b)$ is defined by

$$J^{\alpha}_{\sigma(b)}(a,b) = \frac{1}{\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W^{\alpha,\psi_1}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W^{\alpha,\psi}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W^{\alpha,\psi}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W^{\alpha,\psi}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \; \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W^{\alpha,\psi_2}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W^{\alpha,\psi}_x(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \right]$$
(6.4.2.5)

Now by substituting (6.4.2.4) into (6.4.2.2), we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} = p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} + J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}.$$
(6.4.2.6)

Therefore, the exact IF, $\phi'(b) = c + rb$, of the linear frequency modulation x(b) given in (3.2.2.1) is defined by

$$\phi'(b) = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{1}{i2\pi}(p+qb-\frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}).$$
(6.4.2.7)

Since $\phi'(b)$ is real, i.e., the real part of $\frac{1}{i2\pi}(p+qb-\frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)})$ is zero, then we have

$$\phi'(b) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}\right\}.$$
(6.4.2.8)

Then, for a general signal x(t), the phase transformation is defined by

$$\Omega_{x}^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}; \\ + \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{2}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}; \\ \text{when } W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0; \\ \dots \\ \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - a \,\sigma(b) \cot(\alpha) \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}; \\ \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - a \,\sigma(b) \cot(\alpha) \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}; \\ \operatorname{when} W_{x}^{\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0 \quad \operatorname{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi_{1}}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) = 0. \\ (6.4.2.9) \end{cases}$$

Based on this derivation, we now provide the following theorem where its proof is given in Appendix.

Theorem 6.4.1. If x(t) is an LFM signal given by (4.3.2.1), then at (a,b) on which $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0$, $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ defined by (6.4.2.9) is the IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$.

Lastly, with this phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ defined above in (6.4.2.9), the second-order AFrWSST, $S_x^{\text{AFrCWT}}(\xi,b;\sigma(b))$, of a signal $x(t) \in L_2(\mathbb{R})$ is defined as in (6.4.1.5)

$$S_x^{\text{AFrCWT}}(\xi, b; \sigma(b)) = \int_{\mathbf{I}} W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \ \delta(\Omega_x^{\text{2nd}}(a, b; \sigma(b)) - \xi) \ \frac{da}{a}, \quad (6.4.2.10)$$

where ξ is the frequency variable and $I = \{a \in \mathbb{R}_+ : W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0\}$. For reconstructing a mono-component signal x(t) or a multicomponent signal $x(t) = \sum_k x_k(t)$ from the second-order AFrWSST, it can similarly be defined as that with $\Omega_x^{1st}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ for AFrWSST.

CHAPTER 7

Conclusion and Future Work

In this chapter, we make the primary conclusion of this dissertation and describe our future research problems. First, a formula with integral involving only the scale variable is established to reconstruct the original signal from the FrCWT. Then, two phase transformations, that are associated with the first and the second order partial derivatives of the FrCWT of a time-varying signal, are derived. Based on those transformations, we introduce the fractional synchrosqueezed wavelet transform (FrWSST) that transforms the FrCWT value from a time-scale point to a quantity on the time-FrFD-frequency plane.

Based on IFE-CWT, we introduce the IFE synchrosqueezing transform (IFE-WSST) with the first two orders of the phase transformation for further enhancing the concentration and reducing the diffusion for the curved IF profile. We also propose a time-FrFD-frequency representation with satisfactory energy concentration for both monocomponent signals and multicomponent signals; namely, the instantaneous frequency-embedded FrCWT (IFE-FrCWT) and then the corresponding SST (IFE-FrWSST). Lastly, we propose the adaptive FrCWT (AFrCWT) and the corresponding adaptive SST (AFrWSST) with a time-varying parameter $\sigma = \sigma(t)$ to close this dissertation.

There are several research problems related to this topic. Other than the problems we studied in this dissertation, we have the following list of problems for our future research:

1. (Numerical experiments: Including real data experiments)

Performing some experimental studies is to show the potential outperformance; obtained from time-frequency representations in the FrFD, in the estimation accuracy of the instantaneous frequency and the improvement in the energy concentration of the time-frequency distribution for multicomponent strong frequency modulation signals.

2. (Instantaneous frequency-embedded ACWT/AFrCWT)

Study TF and TFrF representations with satisfactory energy concentration that involve both variables of adaptive CWT (ACWT) and adaptive FrCWT (AFrCWT); namely, the instantaneous frequency-embedded ACWT/AFrCWT (IFE-AFrCWT/IFE-AFrCWT).

3. (STFrFT-based synchrosqueezing transform)

Extend the idea of SST in the time-FrFD-frequency plane to the shorttime fractional Fourier transform (STFrFT), namely; the STFrFT-based synchrosqueezing transform (FrFSST).

4. (Instantaneous frequency-embedded STFrFT)

Generate a time-FrFD-frequency representation with satisfactory energy concentration that involves both variables of STFrFT; namely, the instantaneous frequency-embedded STFrFT (IFE-STFrFT).

5. (STFrFT with a time-varying parameter)

Study the time-FrFD-frequency analysis by adapting time-varying window width to the STFrFT, namely; the adaptive STFrFT (ASTFrFT).

6. (Instantaneous frequency-embedded ASTFT/ASTFrFT)

Study TF and TFrF representations with satisfactory energy concentration that involve both variables of adaptive STFT (ASTFT) and adaptive STFrFT (ASTFrFT); namely, the instantaneous frequency-embedded ASTFT/ASTFrFT (IFE-ASTFTT/IFE-ASTFrFTT).

7. Present several *Applications* by applying these time-FrFD-frequency representations to multicomponent signals that are commonly seen in nature and engineering problems, where the frequencies of these signals usually change with the time.

Appendix

Proof of Theorem 4.3.1. For x(t) given by (4.3.2.1) and from equations (4.3.2.2); $x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt)) x(t)$, and (4.3.1.1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x'(at+b) e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)t^2+2abt\right)\cot(\alpha)} \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &+ i2\pi \, a \, \cot(\alpha) \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)t^2+2abt\right)\cot(\alpha)} \, t \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &= \left((p+i2\pi \, c) + (q+i2\pi r) \, b\right) \times \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)t^2+2abt\right)\cot(\alpha)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &+ a \left(q+i2\pi (r+\cot(\alpha))\right) \times \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)t^2+2abt\right)\cot(\alpha)} \, t \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &= \left((p+i2\pi c) + (q+i2\pi r) \, b\right) \, W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \\ &+ a \left(q+i2\pi (r+\cot(\alpha))\right) W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b) \\ &+ a \left(q+i2\pi (r+\cot(\alpha))\right) W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b) \end{aligned}$$

Thus if $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \neq 0$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} = p + i2\pi c + (q + i2\pi r)b + a\left(q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha))\right)\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}.$$
 (†)

Taking the first-order partial derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of this above equation (†) leads to have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right) = \left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha)) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathcal{T}\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right).$$

Therefore, if in addition, $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \ \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{T}\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \neq 0$, then

$$q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha)) = \frac{1}{\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{T}\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b)} \right)} \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \psi}(a, b)} \right).$$

Back to (\dagger) , we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) + a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right)} \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right).$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} \phi'(b) &= c + rb = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} - \frac{1}{i2\pi} (p+qb) \\ &- \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathcal{T}\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right)} \right) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right) \end{split}$$

Since $\phi'(b)$ is real, we conclude that

$$\phi'(b) = c + rb = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} - \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right)}\right) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}\right)\right\}.$$

Therefore for an LFM signal x(t) given by (4.3.2.1), at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \ \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$, the phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a, b)$ defined by (4.3.2.9) is the exact IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{nd}}(a, b) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$. This completes the proof of Theorem 4.3.1.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.1. For x(t) given by (4.3.2.1) and from equations (4.3.2.2); $x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt)) x(t)$, and (5.1.1.1), we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x'(at+b) \, e^{-i2\pi \left(\varphi(at+b)-\varphi(b)-(\varphi'(b)+\xi_0)\,at-\xi_0b\right)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &+ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(-i2\pi \varphi'(at+b) + i2\pi \varphi''(b) \, at + i2\pi (\varphi'(b)+\xi_0) \right) \times \\ &\quad x(at+b) \, e^{-i2\pi \left(\varphi(at+b)-\varphi(b)-(\varphi'(b)+\xi_0)\,at-\xi_0b\right)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt. \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(p+qb+i2\pi (c+rb) + (q+i2\pi r) \, at \right) \times \\ &\quad x(at+b) \, e^{-i2\pi \left(\varphi(at+b)-\varphi(b)-(\varphi'(b)+\xi_0)\,at-\xi_0b\right)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &+ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(-i2\pi \varphi'(at+b) + i2\pi \varphi''(b) \, at + i2\pi (\varphi'(b)+\xi_0) \right) \times \\ &\quad x(at+b) \, e^{-i2\pi \left(\varphi(at+b)-\varphi(b)-(\varphi'(b)+\xi_0)\,at-\xi_0b\right)} \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \end{split}$$

which can be reformulated as follows

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) = \left(p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb)\right) \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) e^{-i2\pi\left(\varphi(at+b) - \varphi(b) - (\varphi'(b) + \xi_0) at - \xi_0 b\right)} \overline{\psi(t)} dt$$

$$+ \left(q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b))\right) a \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) e^{-i2\pi\left(\varphi(at+b) - \varphi(b) - (\varphi'(b) + \xi_0) at - \xi_0 b\right)} \overline{\psi(t)} dt$$
$$- i2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \varphi'(at+b) e^{-i2\pi\left(\varphi(at+b) - \varphi(b) - (\varphi'(b) + \xi_0) at - \xi_0 b\right)} \overline{\psi(t)} dt$$

$$= (p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb)) W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) + (q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b))) a W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b) - i2\pi W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b).$$

Thus if $W_x^{{\rm E},\psi}(a,b) \neq 0$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \\
+ (q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b)))a\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - i2\pi\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}.$$
(‡)

By taking the first-order partial derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of (‡) , we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) = \left(q + i2\pi (r + \varphi''(b)) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) - i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right).$$

Therefore, if in addition, $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$, then

 $\partial a \left(\begin{array}{cc} u & W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \end{array} \right)$

$$q + i2\pi(r + \varphi''(b)) = \frac{1}{\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E}, \tau_{\psi}}(a, b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \right].$$

Back to (\ddagger) , we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) + \left(a\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(a\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right) \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right) + i2\pi\frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right)\right]\right) - i2\pi\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}.$$
Hence,

$$\begin{split} \phi'(b) &= c + rb = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \right] \\ &\times a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right)} \right) - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0 - \frac{1}{i2\pi} (p+qb). \end{split}$$

Since $\phi'(b)$ is real, we conclude that

$$\phi'(b) = c + rb = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} - a\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(a\frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a}\left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}\right)\right]\right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0.$$

Therefore for an LFM signal x(t) given by (4.3.2.1), at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\tau_{\psi}}(a,b)}{W_x^{\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \neq 0$, the second order phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a, b)$ defined by (5.1.2.7) is the exact IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a, b) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.1.1.

Proof of Theorem 5.3.1. For x(t) given by (4.3.2.1) and from equations (4.3.2.2); $x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt)) x(t)$, and (5.3.1.1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) \, at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \, t^2} \right) \times \\ & x'(at+b) \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &+ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0) - i2\pi\varphi'(at+b) + i2\pi(\cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \, at \right) \times x(at+b) \\ &\times \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) \, at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \, t^2} \right) \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) \, at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \, t^2} \right) \times \\ & \left(p + q(at+b) + i2\pi(c+r(at+b)) \right) \times x(at+b) \, \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \\ &+ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0) - i2\pi\varphi'(at+b) + i2\pi(\cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \, at) \times x(at+b) \right) \\ &\times \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at+b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) \, at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) \, t^2} \right) \overline{\psi(t)} \, dt \end{aligned}$$

which can be reformulated as follows

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{E}, \psi}(a, b) &= \left(p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \right) \times \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at + b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) t^2} \right) \times \\ &x(at + b) \overline{\psi(t)} dt \\ &- i2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at + b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) t^2} \right) \times \\ &x(at + b) \varphi'(at + b) \overline{\psi(t)} dt \\ &+ \left(q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \right) a \times \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(e^{i2\pi(\varphi(b) + \xi_0 b) - i2\pi\varphi(at + b) + i2\pi(\xi_0 + b\cot(\alpha) + \varphi'(b)) at + i\pi(a^2 - 1)\cot(\alpha) t^2} \right) \times \\ &x(at + b) t \overline{\psi(t)} dt \\ &= \left(p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \right) W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{E}, \psi}(a, b) - i2\pi W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathcal{E}, \psi}(a, b) \\ &+ \left(q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \right) a W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b). \end{split}$$

Thus if $W_x^{{}^{\alpha,{\rm E},\psi}}(a,b) \neq 0$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} = p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) - i2\pi \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} + \left(q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b))\right)a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}.$$
(††)

By taking the first-order partial derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of $(\dagger\dagger)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \bigg(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \bigg) &= -i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \bigg(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \bigg) \\ &+ \big(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) \big) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \bigg(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \bigg) \end{split}$$

Therefore, if in addition, $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{T}\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathcal{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \neq 0$, then

$$q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha) + \varphi''(b)) = \frac{1}{\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \mathcal{T}\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right)} \times \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \right].$$

Back to $(\dagger\dagger)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} &= p + qb + i2\pi(\varphi'(b) + \xi_0 + c + rb) \\ &+ \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) + i2\pi \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \right] \times \\ &\quad a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \right) \right) + i2\pi \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)}{W_x^{\alpha,\mathrm{E},\psi}(a,b)} \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \phi'(b) &= c + rb = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \\ &- \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \right] \times \right. \\ &\left. a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \tau\psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \right) - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0 - \frac{1}{i2\pi} (p + qb) \right] \end{split}$$

Since $\phi'(b)$ is real, we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \phi'(b) &= c + rb = \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} + \frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \\ &- \left(\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_{x\varphi'}^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \right] \times \\ & a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) \times \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \right) \right\} - \varphi'(b) - \xi_0. \end{split}$$

Therefore for an LFM signal x(t) given by (4.3.2.1), at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \; \frac{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)}{W_x^{\alpha, \mathrm{E}, \psi}(a, b)} \right) \neq 0$, the phase transformation defined by (5.3.2.10) is the exact IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{\mathrm{nd}}}(a, b) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.3.1.

Proof of Proposition 6.3.1. By taking the α -order FrFT on both sides of equation (6.3.1), we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha,a,b}(\xi) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha,a,b}(t) \, K_{\alpha}(t,\xi) \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-i\pi(t^2 - b^2 - (\frac{t-b}{a})^2)\cot(\alpha)} \, \psi_{\sigma(b);a,b}(t) \, B_{\alpha} \, e^{i\pi(t^2 + \xi^2)\cot(\alpha) - it\xi\csc(\alpha)} \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{a} \, \psi_{\sigma(b)}\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right) \, B_{\alpha} \, e^{i\pi(b^2 + \xi^2)\cot(\alpha) - it\xi\csc(\alpha)} \, e^{i\pi(\frac{t-b}{a})^2\cot(\alpha)} \, dt, \end{split}$$

or it can be written as follows

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha,a,b}(\xi) &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{a} \psi_{\sigma(b)} \left(\frac{t-b}{a} \right) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi(b^{2}+\xi^{2})\cot(\alpha)-i\left(\frac{t-b}{a}+\frac{b}{a}\right)a\xi\csc(\alpha)} \\ & B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left(\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)^{2}+(a\xi)^{2}-(a\xi)^{2}\right)} \right) dt \\ &= \frac{e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)}}{B_{\alpha}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{a} \psi_{\sigma(b)} \left(\frac{t-b}{a} \right) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left(\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)^{2}+(a\xi)^{2}\right)\cot(\alpha)-i\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)}a\xi\csc(\alpha)} \\ & B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi(b^{2}+\xi^{2})\cot(\alpha)-ib\xi\csc(\alpha)} \right) dt \\ &= \frac{e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)}}{B_{\alpha}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{\sigma(b)} \left(\frac{t-b}{a} \right) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left(\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)^{2}+(a\xi)^{2}\right)\cot(\alpha)-i\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right)}a\xi\csc(\alpha)} \\ & K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) d\left(\frac{t-b}{a}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{\sigma(b)}(t) B_{\alpha} e^{i\pi\left(t^{2}+(a\xi)^{2}\right)\cot(\alpha)-ita\xi\csc(\alpha)} dt \\ &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_{\sigma(b)}(t) K_{\alpha}(t,a\xi) dt \\ &= \frac{1}{B_{\alpha}} K_{\alpha}(b,\xi) \Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)}. \end{split}$$

From the Parseval identity of the FrFT defined in (4.1.4) and then substituting (\bigstar) into (6.3.2), we have

$$\begin{split} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) &= \langle X_\alpha(\xi), \frac{1}{B_\alpha} K_\alpha(b,\xi) \Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi) e^{-i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} \rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{\overline{B}_\alpha} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_\alpha(\xi) \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi)} \overline{K_\alpha(b,\xi)} d\xi \\ &= A_\alpha \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^2 \cot(\alpha)} X_\alpha(\xi) \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi)} K_{-\alpha}(b,\xi) d\xi. \end{split}$$

This proves (6.3.3).

Proof of Proposition 6.3.2. Integrating both sides of equation (6.3.3) with integral involving only the scale variable *a* leads to have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{x}^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \frac{da}{a} &= A_{\alpha} \times \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)} X_{\alpha}(\xi) \ \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi)} \ K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) \, d\xi \ \frac{da}{a} \\ &= A_{\alpha} \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha}(\xi) \ K_{-\alpha}(\xi,b) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{i\pi(a\xi)^{2}\cot(\alpha)} \ \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(a\xi)} \ \frac{da}{a} \, d\xi \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha}(\xi) \ \overline{K_{\alpha}(b,\xi)} \left(A_{\alpha} \times \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{i\pi\eta^{2}\cot(\alpha)} \ \overline{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}(\eta)} \ \frac{d\eta}{\eta} \right) d\xi \\ &= c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}(b) \times \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_{\alpha}(\xi) \ \overline{K_{\alpha}(b,\xi)} \, d\xi \\ &= c_{\Psi_{\sigma(b);\alpha}}(b) \ x(b), \end{split}$$

which shows (6.3.6) as it is desired.

Proof of Theorem 6.4.1. For x(t) given by (4.3.2.1) and from equations (4.3.2.2); $x'(t) = (p + qt + i2\pi(c + rt)) x(t)$, and (6.3.12), we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x'(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \, \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt \\ &+ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \times \left(i2\pi a \cot(\alpha) \, t \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \, \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \right) \\ &+ e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right) \cot(\alpha)} \left(-\frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma^2(b)} \, \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma^3(b)} \, t \, \vartheta'(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)})\right) e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \right) \, dt \\ &= \left(p+qb+i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}\right) \times \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{1}{\sigma(b)} \, \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt \\ &+ a \, (q+i2\pi(r+\cot(\alpha))) \times \\ &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{t}{\sigma(b)} \, \vartheta(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt \\ &- \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \, \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x(at+b) \, e^{i\pi \left((a^2-1)\,t^2+2ab\,t\right) \cot(\alpha)} \, \frac{t}{\sigma^2(b)} \, \vartheta'(\frac{t}{\sigma(b)}) \, e^{-i2\pi\,\mu t} \, dt \\ &= (p+qb+i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}) \, W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \\ &+ \left(q+i2\pi(r+\cot(\alpha))\right) a \, \sigma(b) \, W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \\ &+ \left(q+i2\pi(r+\cot(\alpha))\right) a \, \sigma(b) \, W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \\ &- \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \, W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b)). \end{split}$$

Thus if $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b)) \neq 0$, we have

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} = p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} + \left(q + i2\pi(r+\cot(\alpha))\right)a\sigma(b)\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)}\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}.$$
(‡‡)

Taking the first-order partial derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial a}$ to both sides of this above equation (\ddagger) leads to have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) = \left(q + i2\pi (r + \cot(\alpha)) \right) \sigma(b) \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \\ - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(\frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right).$$

Therefore, if in addition, $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \ \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0$, then

$$J^{\alpha}_{\sigma(b)}(a,b) = \left(q + i2\pi(r + \cot(\alpha))\right)\sigma(b),$$

where $J^{\alpha}_{\sigma(b)}(a,b)$ is defined by (6.4.2.5). Back to (‡‡), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b}W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} &= p + qb + i2\pi(c+rb) - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} + J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \\ &- \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}.\end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} \phi'(b) &= c + rb = \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \\ &+ \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - \frac{1}{i2\pi} \left(p + qb - \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \right). \end{split}$$

Since $\phi'(b)$ is real, we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \phi'(b) &= c + rb = \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial b} W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} - J_{\sigma(b)}^{\alpha}(a,b) \times a \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \\ &+ \frac{\sigma'(b)}{\sigma(b)} \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_2}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{i2\pi W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for an LFM signal x(t) given by (4.3.2.1), at (a, b) on which $W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a, b; \sigma(b)) \neq 0$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial a} \left(a \ \frac{W_x^{\alpha,\psi_1}(a,b;\sigma(b))}{W_x^{\alpha,\psi}(a,b;\sigma(b))} \right) \neq 0$, the second order phase transformation $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b))$ defined by (6.4.2.9) is the exact IF of x(t); namely, $\Omega_x^{2^{\text{nd}}}(a,b;\sigma(b)) = \phi'(b) = c + rb$. This completes the proof of Theorem 6.4.1.

Bibliography

- L. B. Almeida, "The fractional Fourier transform and time-frequency representations," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, Vol. 42, pp. 3084-3091, Nov. 1994.
- [2] F. Auger and P. Flandrin, "Improving the readability of time-frequency and time-scale representations by the reassignment method," *Signal Processing*, *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, Vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 1068-1089, May 1995.
- [3] F. Auger, P. Flandrin, Y.-T. Lin, S. McLaughlin, S. Meignen, T. Oberlin and H.-T. Wu, "Time-frequency reassignment and synchrosqueezing: An overview," *Signal Processing Magazine*, *IEEE*, Vol. 30, no. 6, pp.32-41, 2013.
- [4] E. Bedrosian, "A Product Theorem for Hilbert transforms," *Proc. IEEE*, Vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 868-869, May 1963.
- [5] R. Behera, S. Meignen and T. Oberlin, "Theoretical analysis of the 2nd-order synchrosqueezing transform," *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*, Vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 379-404, Sep. 2018.
- [6] A. J. Berrian and N. Saito, "Adaptive synchrosqueezing based on a quilted short-time Fourier transform," arXiv:1707.03138v5, Sep. 2017.
- [7] H.Y. Cai, Q.T. Jiang, L. Li and B.W. Suter, "Analysis of adaptive short-time Fourier transform-based synchrosqueezing transform," *Analysis and Applications*, Vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 71-105, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219530520400047.
- [8] C. Capus and K. Brown, "Short-time fractional Fourier methods for the timefrequency representation of chirp signals," J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., Vol. 113, no. 6, pp. 3253–3263, Jun. 2003.
- [9] A. T. Catherall and D. P. Williams, "Detecting non-stationary signals using fractional Fourier methods," [Online]. Available: http://www.ima.org.uk/Conferences/mathssignalprocessing2006/williams.pdf.
- [10] Y.-C. Chen, M.-Y. Cheng, and H.-T. Wu, "Non-parametric and adaptive modelling of dynamic periodicity and trend with heteroscedastic and dependent errors," *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology)*, Vol. 76, no. 3, pp. 651-682, June 2014.

- [11] C.K. Chui and N.N. Han, "Wavelet thresholding for recovery of active sub-signals of a composite signal from its discrete samples," *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acha.2020.11.003.
- [12] C.K. Chui and Q.T. Jiang, Applied Mathematics: Data Compression, Spectral Methods, Fourier Analysis, Wavelets, and Applications, Springer Publ., 2013.https://www.springer.com/gp/book/9789462390089.
- [13] C.K. Chui, Q.T. Jiang, L. Li and J. Lu, "Analysis of an adaptive short-time Fourier transform-based multi-component signal separation method derived from linear chirp local approximation", preprint, 2020, arXiv2010.10760.
- [14] C.K. Chui, Q.T. Jiang, L. Li and J. Lu, "Signal separation based on adaptive continuous wavelet-like transform and analysis", *Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis*, Vol. 53, pp.151–179, 2021.
- [15] C.K. Chui, Q.T. Jiang, L. Li and J. Lu, "Time-scale-chirp_rate operator for recovery of non-stationary signal components with crossover instantaneous frequency curves", 2020, submitted. arXiv2012.14010.
- [16] C.K. Chui, Y.-T. Lin and H.-T. Wu, "Real-time dynamics acquisi- tion from irregular samples with application to anesthesia evaluation," *Analysis and Applications*, Vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 537-590, 2016.
- [17] C.K. Chui and H.N. Mhaskar, "Signal decomposition and analysis via extraction of frequencies," *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*, Vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 97-136, 2016.
- [18] C.K. Chui, H.N. Mhaskar, and M.D. van der Walt, "Data-driven atomic decomposition via frequency extraction of intrinsic mode functions", *Int'l J. Geomath.*, Vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 117-146, 2016.
- [19] C.K. Chui and M.D. van der Walt, "Signal analysis via instantaneous frequency estimation of signal components," *Int'l J. Geomath.*, Vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1-42, 2015.
- [20] A. Cicone, "Iterative Filtering as a direct method for the decomposition of nonstationary signals," *Numerical Algorithms*, Vol. 85, pp. 811-827, 2020.
- [21] A. Cicone, J.F. Liu and H.M. Zhou, "Adaptive local iterative filtering for signal decomposition and instantaneous frequency analysis," *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*, Vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 384-411, 2016.
- [22] H. Dai, Z. Zheng and W. Wang, "A new fractional wavelet transform," Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simulat., Vol. 44, pp. 19-36, 2017.
- [23] I. Daubechies, J. Lu and H.-T. Wu, "Synchrosqueezed wavelet trans- forms: An empirical mode decomposition-like tool," *Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal.*, Vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 243-261, 2011.

- [24] I. Daubechies and S. Maes, "A nonlinear squeezing of the continuous wavelet transform based on auditory nerve models" in A. Aldroubi, M. Unser Eds. Wavelets in Medicine and Biology, CRC Press, 1996, pp. 527-546.
- [25] I. Daubechies, Y. Wang and H.-T. Wu, "ConceFT: Concentration of frequency and time via a multitapered synchrosqueezing transform," *Philosophical Transactions* A, Vol. 374, no. 2065, Apr. 2016.
- [26] P. Flandrin, G. Rilling, and P. Goncalves, "Empirical mode decomposition as a filter bank," *IEEE Signal Proc. Letters*, Vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 112-114, Feb. 2004.
- [27] T. Gardner and M. Magnasco, "Sparse time-frequency representations," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, Vol. 103, no. 16, pp. 6094-6099, 2006.
- [28] N.E. Huang, Z. Shen, S.R. Long, M.L. Wu, H.H. Shih, Q. Zheng, N.C. Yen, C.C. Tung and H.H. Liu, "The empirical mode decomposition and Hilbert spectrum for nonlinear and nonstationary time series analysis," *Proc. Roy. Soc. London A*, Vol. 454, no. 1971, pp. 903-995, 1998.
- [29] Z.-L. Huang, J.Z. Zhang, T.H. Zhao and Y. B. Sun, "Synchrosqueezing S-transform and its application in seismic spectral decomposition," *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sensing*, Vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 817-825, Feb. 2016.
- [30] Q.T. Jiang and B.W. Suter, "Instantaneous frequency estimation based on synchrosqueezing wavelet transform," Signal Process., Vol. 138, pp. 167–181, 2017.
- [31] F. King, *Hilbert Transforms*, Volume 1. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2009.
- [32] K. Kodera, R. Gendrin, and C. de Villedary, "Analysis of time-varying signals with small BT values," Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, IEEE Transactions on, Vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 64-76, 1978.
- [33] K. Kodera, C. de Villedary and R. Gendrin, "A new method for the numerical analysis of non-stationary signals," *Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors*, Vol. 12, no. 2-3, pp. 142-150, 1976.
- [34] L. Li, H.Y. Cai, H.X. Han, Q.T. Jiang and H.B. Ji, "Adaptive short-time Fourier transform and synchrosqueezing transform for non-stationary signal separation," *Signal Proc.*, Vol. 166, 2020, 107231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sigpro.2019.07.024
- [35] L. Li, H.Y. Cai and Q.T. Jiang, "Adaptive synchrosqueezing transform with a time-varying parameter for non-stationary signal separation," *Appl. Comput. Har*mon. Anal., Vol. 49, pp. 1075-1106, 2020.

- [36] L. Li, C.K. Chui, and Q.T. Jiang, "Direct signals separation via extraction of local frequencies with adaptive time-varying parameters," preprint, Jan. 2020, arXiv2010.01866.
- [37] L. Li, H.Y. Cai, Q.T. Jiang and H.B. Ji, "An empirical signal separation algorithm based on linear time-frequency analysis," *Mechanical Systems and Signal Proc.*, Vol. 121, pp. 791-809, 2019.
- [38] L. Li, N.N. Han, Q.T. Jiang and C.K. Chui, "A separation method for multicomponent non-stationary signals with crossover instantaneous frequencies," preprint, Feb. 2020, arXiv2010.01498.
- [39] L. Li and H. Ji, "Signal feature extraction based on improved EMD method," *Measurement*, Vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 796-803, 2009.
- [40] C. Li and M. Liang, "A generalized synchrosqueezing transform for enhancing signal time-frequency representation," *Signal Processing*, Vol. 92, no. 9, pp. 2264-2274, 2012.
- [41] L. Li, Z.H. Wang, H.Y. Cai, Q.T. Jiang and H.B. Ji, "Time-varying parameterbased synchrosqueezing wavelet transform with the approximation of cubic phase functions," in 2018 14th IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing (ICSP), Beijing, China, pp. 844-848, Aug. 2018.
- [42] L. Lin, Y. Wang and H.M. Zhou, "Iterative filtering as an alternative algorithm for empirical mode decomposition," Adv. Adapt. Data Anal., Vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 543-560, 2009.
- [43] J. Lu, J.H. Alzahrani and Q.T. Jiang, "A second-order synchrosqueezing transform with a simple form of phase transformation," *Numerical Mathematics: Theory*, *Methods and Applications*, in press, 2021.
- [44] J. Lu, Q.T. Jiang and L. Li, "Analysis of adaptive synchrosqueezing transform with a time-varying parameter," Advance in Computational Mathematics, Vol. 46, no. 72, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10444-020-09814-x.
- [45] D. Mendlovic, Z. Zalevsky, D. Mas, J. Garcia and C. Ferreira, "Fractional wavelet transform," Appl Opt, Vol. 36, no. 20, pp. 4801–4806, 1997.
- [46] V. Namias, "The Fractional Order Fourier Transform and its Application to Quantum Mechanics," *IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics*, Vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 241-265, 1980.
- [47] T. Oberlin and S. Meignen, "The second-order wavelet synchrosqueezing transform," 2017 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), New Orleans, LA, USA, pp. 3994-3998, 2017.

- [48] T. Oberlin, S. Meignen and V. Perrier, "An alternative formulation for the empirical mode decomposition," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, Vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 2236-2246, 2012.
- [49] T. Oberlin, S. Meignen and V. Perrier, "The Fourier-based synchrosqueezing transform," 2014 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), Florence, Italy, pp. 315-319, 2014.
- [50] T. Oberlin, S. Meignen and V. Perrier, "Second-order synchrosqueezing transform or invertible reassignment? Towards ideal time-frequency rep- resentations," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, Vol. 63, no. 5, pp. 1335-1344, Mar. 2015.
- [51] D.-H. Pham and S. Meignen, "Second-order synchrosqueezing transform: the wavelet case and comparisons," preprint, Sep. 2017. HAL archives-ouvertes: hal-01586372.
- [52] L. Qi, R. Tao, S. Zhou and Y. Wang, "Detection and parameter estimation of multicomponent LFM signal based on the fractional Fourier transform," *Science* in China Series F: Information Sciences, Vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 184-198, 2004.
- [53] G. Rilling and P. Flandrin, "One or two frequencies? The empirical mode decomposition answers," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, Vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 85-95, 2008.
- [54] E. Sejdic, I. Djurovic and L. Stankovic, "Fractional Fourier transform as a signal processing tool: An overview of recent developments," *Signal Processing*, Vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 1351-1369, June 2011.
- [55] Y.-L. Sheu, L.-Y. Hsu, P.-T. Chou and H.-T. Wu, "Entropy-based time-varying window width selection for nonlinear-type time-frequency analysis," *Int'l J Data Sci. Anal.*, Vol. 3, pp. 231-245, 2017.
- [56] J Shi, N.T. Zhang and X.P. Liu, "A novel fractional wavelet transform and its applications," Sci. China Inf. Sci., Vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1270-1279, 2012.
- [57] L. Stankovic, M. Dakovic and T. Thayaparan, *Time-Frequency Signal Analysis With Applications*, Boston, MA, USA: Artech House, 2013.
- [58] R. Tao, B. Deng and Y. Wang, "Research progress of the fractional Fourier transform in signal processing," *Science in China Series F: Information Sciences*, Vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 1-25, 2006.
- [59] R. Tao, Y. Li and Y. Wang, "Short-time fractional Fourier transform and its applications," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, Vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 2568-2580, 2010.
- [60] G. Thakur and H.-T. Wu, "Synchrosqueezing based recovery of instantaneous frequency from nonuniform samples," SIAM J. Math. Anal., Vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 2078-2095, 2011.

- [61] M. D. van der Walt, Wavelet Analysis of non-stationary signals with applications, Ph.D. dissertation, Univ. of Missouri-St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, 2015.
- [62] S. Wang, X. Chen, G. Cai, B. Chen, X. Li and Z. He, "Matching demodulation transform and synchrosqueezing in time-frequency analysis," *IEEE Transactions* on Signal Processing, Vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 69–84, 2014.
- [63] S.B. Wang, X.F. Chen, I.W. Selesnick, Y.J. Guo, C.W. Tong and X.W. Zhang, "Matching synchrosqueezing transform: A useful tool for characterizing signals with fast varying instantaneous frequency and application to machine fault diagnosis," *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, Vol. 100, pp. 242-288, 2018.
- [64] H.T. Wu, Adaptive Analysis of Complex Data Sets, Ph.D. Dissertation, Princeton Univ., Princeton, NJ, 2012.
- [65] H. Z. Yang and L. X. Ying, "Synchrosqueezed curvelet transform for twodimensional mode decomposition," SIAM J. Math Anal., Vol 46, no. 3, pp. 2052-2083, 2014.
- [66] F. Zhang, G. Bi and Y.Q. Chen, "Chip signal analysis by using adaptive short-time fractional Fourier transform," 2000 [Online]. Available: https://www.eurasip.org/Proceedings/Eusipco/Eusipco2000/SESSIONS/ WEDPM/OR3/CR1282.PDF.
- [67] H. Zhang, T. Shan, S. Liu and R. Tao, "Optimized sparse fractional Fourier transform: Principle and performance analysis," *Signal Processing*, Vol. 174, September 2020.